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BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

October 16, 2024 

 

 

PRESENT: Trustees Billings, Cabral, Davis, DiPalma, Garcia, Immerman, Kezer, 

Mattera, Maldonado, Morales and Morales (chair), Maldonado. Also participating at the 

meeting were President Keenan and Board Secretary Montague.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

 

ABSENT: Lampassi 

 
In accordance with the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Chapter 30A and 

An Act Relative to Extending Certain State of Emergency Accommodations, which, among other 

things, extends the expiration of the provisions pertaining to the Open Meeting Law to March 31, 

2023. Specifically, this extension allows public bodies to continue holding meetings remotely 

without a quorum of the public body physically present at a meeting location, and to provide 

"adequate, alternative" access to remote meetings. Governor Healey extended the provision to 

March 2025. All votes were taken by roll call. 

 

*     *     * 

I. CALL TO ORDER - Chair Morales having a quorum of the members present 

called the meeting to order.  

 

Chair Morales invited Vice President MacDonald Dennis to read the Land 

Acknowledgement. 

 

The land occupied by Salem State University is part of Naumkeag, a traditional and 

ancestral homeland of the Pawtucket band of the Massachusett. We acknowledge the 

genocide and forced removal of the people of Naumkeag and their kin and we recognize 

the ongoing colonization and dispossession of Indigenous homelands. We respect and 

honor the Massachusett tribe and the many Indigenous Peoples who continue to care for 

the land upon which we gather. 

 

Chair Morales then moved to the Committee actions. 

 

*     *     * 

 

II.  Committee Actions:   

 

Risk Management & Audit - Trustee Maldonado presented the Risk Management and 

Audit motions.  She reminded the trustees that the committee’s recommended motions had 

been discussed at the meeting which had taken place just prior to the board meeting. 

Trustee Kezer seconded the motion.  Hearing no further discussion and following a roll 

call vote it was, 

 

Call to Order 

 

 

The Land 

Acknowledgement is 

read at the Board’s 

first meeting of the 

Academic Year 

 

 

 

 

 

Committee Actions: 

 

Risk Management & 

Audit 

 

Acceptance of Audits 

DRAFT Audits 
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VOTED:   The Board of Trustees of Salem State University hereby accepts the 

following draft audits: 

 

Salem State University Financial Statements and Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis as of June 30, 2024 

 

Salem State University Independent Auditor’s Report as Required 

by the Uniform Guidance and Government Auditing Standards and 

Related Information as of June 30, 2024 

 

Further, the Board of Trustees delegates authority to accept the final 

audit packages to Vice President Karen House, with the proviso that 

significant changes from the draft statements, if any, be discussed first 

with the chair of the Risk Management and Audit committee. Further, 

the trustees acknowledge that Vice President House and her team will 

submit the audit to the Commonwealth by its October 31, 2024 

deadline (RMA 24-01) 

 

Voting in the affirmative:  Billings, Cabral, Davis, DiPalma, Garcia, 

Immerman, Kezer, Mattera, Maldonado and 

Morales (Chair)  

Voting in the negative:   None 

Absent:   Lampassi 

 

Trustee Maldonado then presented the second motion which was seconded by Trustee 

DiPalma.  Hearing no further discussion and following a roll call vote it was, 

 

VOTED: The Board of Trustees of Salem State University hereby accepts 

the following draft audit: 

 

Independent Accountant’s Report on Compliance Pursuant to the 

Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Attestation 

Guide, June 30, 2024 

 

Further, the Board of Trustees delegates authority to accept the final 

audit to Vice President Karen House, with the proviso that significant 

changes or findings from the draft audit, if any, be discussed first with 

the chair of the Risk Management and Audit committee. Further, the 

trustees acknowledge that Vice President House and her team will 

submit the audit to the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial 

Assistance by its December 31, 2024 deadline. (RMA-24-02) 

 

–  

Voting in the affirmative:  Billings, Cabral, Davis, DiPalma, Garcia, 

Immerman, Kezer, Mattera, Maldonado and 

Morales (Chair)  

Voting in the negative:   None 

Absent:   Lampassi 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Student Focus 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Faculty Focus 
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*     *     *

III. Student Focus – Chair Morales introduced the next agenda item which was the 
Student Focus Segment and introduced Joshua May ’27 and Terrance Jean-Charles ’25. 
The students joined the board to discuss the Brotherhood,  a student organization at 
Salem State University (SSU) focused on providing support and leadership 
development opportunities primarily for men of color on campus, which aims to 
promote positive engagement. Slides were used throughout the meeting to facilitate the 
meeting and highlight key aspects of the meeting topics (see attachment).

A wide-ranging discussion regarding food and how that could be more varied, book 

costs. VP House discussed how the university is being responsive to the students 

interests.  A discussion of the high cost of text books and how the university is being 

responsive with an RFP for a new bookstore. Also, the university is mindful that course 

materials are expensive and that digital materials, and OER materials are less 

expensive. 

Several of the trustees thanked the students for using their voice and for participating.  

Their feedback helps to make the culture and community on campus better for 

everyone. Chair Morales invited the students to come back again. 

IV. Faculty Focus – Chair Morales then introduced Professor Kim Poitevin of the 
Interdisciplinary Studies Department for the Faculty Focus segment. Professor Poitevin 
is the Chair of the Commonwealth Honors Program. This is her second year serving as 
chair.  Established by the Board of Higher Education in 1997.  There are state 
requirements to establish a university honors program.  The Commonwealth Honors 
Program at Salem State University is designed to offer to those students whose abilities 
and previous performance are demonstrably higher than the norm, a curriculum option 
that will be more challenging than the general university curriculum.  Courses in the 
Honors Program are qualitatively different in their design and content from the 
standard university requirements, and smaller class sizes allow greater individual 
interaction with faculty members. A seminar format is used in most Honors Program 
courses, giving students the opportunity for independent research and class 
presentation. Special field trips and sessions taught by visiting scholars contribute to a 
particularly rich academic experience for students enrolled in the Honors Program.

Each semester students in the Honors Program take part of their academic program in 

Honors Program courses which take the place of university-wide required courses. 

Thus, even students in credit-intensive programs such as nursing, and business 

administration can participate in the Honors Program and still stay in sequence in 

courses required by their majors.    

Chair Morales thanked Professor Poitevin for her time and expertise. 

*     *     *



4 

V. Staff Focus – Chair Morales then introduced Assistant Provost Megan

Williams from the Institutional Research, Assessment and Sponsored Projects

Department for the Staff Focus Segment. Assistant Provost Williams provided a brief

overview of Institutional Research & Assessment, which was newly restructured in

April 2024 to share data more transparently and bring together institutional research,

assessment, and analytics under a unified area to analyze understand and transparently

share institutional data to inform and support our students, their success and our

decision making.  The university has lots of data collected; not all of it is integrated or

accessible.  Data governance will align policymakers and data reports so we can better

understand, communicate and utilize our data.

Assistant Provost Williams illustrated Institutional Research & Assessment’s 

Dashboard which includes an interactive Factbook, admissions funnel info, academic 

plan counts, graduate retention cohort reporting, survey results and additional reporting 

including HSI metrics and General Ed metrics. Slides were used throughout the 

meeting to facilitate the meeting and highlight key aspects of the meeting topics (see 

attachment).  Chair Morales thanked Assistant Provost Williams for her excellent 

work. 

*     *     *

VII. Consent Agenda - Chair Morales read the items contained on the Consent Agenda

and asked for any objections or modifications.  Hearing none she asked if there was a

motion. Trustee Mattera duly offered a motion to approve which was seconded by Trustee

Immerman.  Following a roll call it was,

VOTED: To approve the Consent Agenda of October 16, 2024 

Voting in the affirmative: Billings, Cabral, Davis, DiPalma, Garcia, 

Immerman, Kezer, Mattera, Maldonado and 

Morales (Chair) 

Voting in the negative:  None 

Absent: Lampassi 

*     *     *

VIII. Chair’s Report –

Chair Morales expressed her excitement to have a fully seated board for the first time in 

several years. She thanked Governor Healey for the great appointments to the university’s 

Board of Trustees. The chair then proceeded to welcome and introduce the new trustees 

and asked them to say a few words: 

Consent 

Agenda 

Chair’s Report 

President’s 

Report 
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Trustee Thomas A. Billings, a Salem State professor emeritus, said that he was looking 

forward to working with everyone and that he believed that he may be the first SSU faculty 

member to serve on the board (this was later confirmed). 

Trustee Elizabeth Cabral is a former student trustee who is returning for a second time to 

the board. Trustee Cabral said that she was beyond excited to be here today. She always 

wanted to return to the board and was thrilled to be approached once there was a vacancy. 

She loves the idea of helping students in any way. 

Trustee Alyce Davis, an alum of SSU, former superintendent and vice chair of the Board 

of Trustees.  Trustee Davis said that she is the oldest of six in a working-class family and 

she expressed her love for education which has meant everything to her. She also 

expressed her strong attachment to SSU. 

Trustee DiPalma, who has been very involved with SSU as the chair Bertolon School of 

Business Advisory Board and is a member of the Meet the Moment campaign steering 

committee along with his wife, Annalisa, remarked that he was honored to be on this board 

and esteemed group.  

Trustee Angel Garcia is the new student trustee.  He had previously joined the board to 

share his experience as a transfer student and the board is grateful that he is now here to 

share his experience as a student advocate, liaison and leader. 

Chair Morales thanked and welcomed the trustees.  

The chair then announced that while speaking and meeting with the trustees several had 

mentioned having in-person meetings.  She heard them, so the next in-person Board 

meetings will be February 12th and May 28th.  The meetings will be held in the Petrowski 

conference room and will have a hybrid option for those who are unable to attend in-

person.  The changes will be noted on the board’s website page. 

IX. President’s Report –

Enrollment: 

President Keenan expressed excitement that enrollment was up overall (undergraduate, 

graduate and continuing education) for the first time since 2012 by 10 students!  

This has been our goal to stabilize enrollment and then begin to build back. 

Undergraduate is down by 2 students but we beat our projection by 164!  Our assumption 

was a 5 percent drop.  

The Fair Shair Amendment is making a difference. 
Free community college should ultimately help our enrollments Free college for Pell 

students here will make a difference here too. 

Hispanic Students  

SSU’s full-time undergraduate student enrollment is quickly approaching 25 percent.  We 

are finalizing these numbers and would be surprised if we don’t hit the 25 percent 
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threshold which is one of the requirements to meet the definition of an HSI.  We will need 

to verify our enrollment numbers again in the fall. 

 

HSI  

President Keenan provided a brief update regarding HSI activity.  As mentioned at the 

committee meeting, SSU hosted the inaugural conference in New England for HSIs and 

emerging HSIs.  Last month, the president visited the president of Hispanic Association of 

Colleges and Universities (HACU) in DC.  President Keenan will return to DC for the 

Excelencia conference at the end of October.  Plans are on the books for President Keenan 

to visit HACU in Colorado with Dr. Castillo, members of faculty and three students.   

 

Higher Education Capital Working Group 

President Keenan is representing the Council of Presidents of the Massachusetts State 

University System.  Created in this year’s budget, we are to report back to Legislature on 

how best finance capital projects. 

 

Last week I testified regarding the Working Group’s final report and I also visited with the 

Lieutenant Governor about our findings.  The Facilities assessment shows some $5B in 

deferred maintenance and another $7B for costs to decarbonize all our campuses. 

 

 Fair Share proceeds: ($1B vs actual $2.2B) 

 $800M to $1B surplus 

 Higher Ed Bond Bill 

 BOLD – campus share not sustainable 

 

Salem State Train Stop Progress 

President Keenan shared that the federal delegation helped fund the design for the new 

train station via the  RAISE Grant (Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability 

& Equity). AECOM is doing the work – as they have already worked on feasibility. We 

are at 100% design.  The work is likely take 18-24 months. 

 

First Year Parent’s Weekend 

President Keenan reported on the success of the First Year Parent’s Weekend saying that 

Bruce Perry called it the most successful he could recall. Salem is a huge draw during the 

month of October.  One Michigan family of 10 decided to visit just to come to Salem! 

 

Election Cycle – less than 3 weeks now. 

President Keenan shared the busy election related activities on campus including: 

 

VP Debate watch party 

 Forum on Ballot Questions 

 Outcomes impact on Dept Higher Ed 

 Impact on international students 

 

He added that the Center for Civic Engagement setting up casual drop-in centers to process 

outcome – regardless of who prevails in the election. 

 

 



 7 

Budget Cycle for FY26 

President Keenan stated that as many would recall, we balanced our budget this year with 

three-pronged approach: cut expenses, slight fee increase and tapped reserves for $3.2M. 

 

President Keenan met with all Department Chairs last week and with Provost Silva.  While 

only 2% of overall budget, some smaller departments saw larger cuts.  Those departments  

requested additional support and he believes we can provide that while still beating our 

budget.  Our goal is to get to a  balanced  budget in next couple of years. 

 

We have also been asked about re-starting the Budget Committee which took a hiatus 

during work to rule. VP House is in the process of reconstituting the committee now and 

the members will provide her advice as we begin to build next year’s budget. 

 

VP Galinski, Dean Newton and the president also met with SGA last week and were asked 

about fees for this year’s budget.  While extremely early, President Keenan suggested a 

similar approach to last year. 

 

Most importantly, we are seeing/feeling more energy on campus this year since at least 

Covid – perhaps even earlier.  President Keenan expressed his enthusiasm to seeing more 

students on campus and engaged. 

 

*     *     * 

 

 VIII. SSU Community Forum – Trustee Immerman announced that no questions were 

submitted for this meeting, and there were no submissions for the last meeting.  He noted 

that the student, faculty and staff focus segments have offered excellent opportunities for 

the board to engage with – and to hear from the campus community and she said that the 

trustees looked forward to hearing from the community in the future.  

 

 

*     *     * 

 

IX. ADJOURNMENT - There being no further business to come before the Board and 

on a motion made by Trustee Mattera and seconded by Trustee Kezer.  Hearing no further 

discussion, it was unanimously, 

 

VOTED:   to adjourn the meeting at    6:30 pm 

 

 

Voting in the affirmative:  Billings, Cabral, Davis, DiPalma, Garcia, 

Immerman, Kezer, Mattera, Maldonado and 

Morales (Chair)  

Voting in the negative:   None 

Absent:   Lampassi 

 

 

 

 
Adjournment 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
 

John Keenan 

President 

 

 
Lynne Montague 

Special Assistant to the President 

Secretary to the Board of Trustees 

 

 



Meeting of the Board of Trustees  

October 16, 2024 

 

 
Consent Agenda Items  

 

Minutes and reports for approval: 

 

Board of Trustees – June 6, 2024 

Advancement – September 25, 2024 

Academic Affairs & Student Success – September 25, 2024 

Finance & Facilities – September 25, 2024 

Risk Management & Audit – September 25, 2024 
 



REQUEST FOR TRUSTEE ACTION 

Date: October 9, 2024 

To: Risk Management and Audit Committee/Board of Trustees 

From: Karen P. House, vice president for finance and facilities 

Subject: FY24 audited financial statements 

Request action: Discussion/Acceptance 

The FY24 audited financial statements are due for submission to the Commonwealth by 
October 31, 2024. The university’s auditors, Withum, PC have presented the draft FY24 
audited financial statements.  

MOTION 
The Risk Management and Audit Committee hereby recommends that the Board of 
Trustees approve the following motion pertaining to the FY24 Salem State University draft 
audited financial statements and programs and related materials. 

Recommended Motion 

The Board of Trustees of Salem State University hereby accepts the following draft audits: 

Salem State University Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis June 30, 2024 

Salem State University Independent Auditors’ Reports as Required by the Uniform 
Guidance and Government Auditing Standards and Related Information, June 30,  
2024 

Further, the Board of Trustees delegates authority to accept the final audit packages to 
Vice President Karen House, with the proviso that significant changes from the draft 
statements, if any, be discussed first with the chair of the Risk Management and Audit 
committee. Further, the trustees acknowledge that Vice President House and her team will 
submit the audit to the Commonwealth by its October 31, 2024 deadline.  

Committee Assigned: 

Committee Action: 

Date of Action: 

Trustee Action: 

Trustee Approval Date: 

RMA 19 of 166



Effective Date:  

 
 
 
 
Signed:  _______________________________  

Title: Secretary of the Board of Trustees 

Date:  _______________________________  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees of 
Salem State University: 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate discretely 
presented component units, of Salem State University (an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the 
“Commonwealth”)(the "University"), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements as listed in the table 
of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the business-type activities and the aggregate discretely presented component units of the University, as 
of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“GAAS”) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the University, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the University‘s ability to continue as a going concern 
for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise 
substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the University’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified 
during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion 
and the other required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the University’s basic financial statements. The 
supplemental schedules listed in the accompanying table of contents, which are the responsibility of management, 
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, 
and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated DATE, on our 
consideration of the University's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 
of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

DATE 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Continued 
(Unaudited) 

- 4 -

Introduction 
Salem State University (the “University”) offers readers this narrative overview and analysis of the financial 
statements and activities of the University for fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. Readers are 
encouraged to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the financial statements and 
related footnotes. In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) requirements, 
the University financial statements report the component unit Salem State University Assistance 
Corporation (“Assistance Corporation”) along with the University Statements.  The Salem State University 
Foundation, Inc. (“Foundation”) component unit is presented separately. 

Background 
The University was founded in 1854 as the Salem Normal School, at which time it offered innovative, 
ground-breaking education for women pursuing careers in education. Today, Salem State, which is one of 
the most diverse state universities in the Commonwealth, thrives as a comprehensive institution of academic 
strength offering high quality education at the undergraduate and graduate levels. Salem State is located on 
115 acres, which is spread across five sites: North Campus, Harrington Campus, South Campus, School of 
Social Work and International Programs and the O’Keefe Athletic Complex. The curriculum spans the arts, 
sciences and professional programs contained within the College of Arts and Sciences, the Bertolon School 
of Business, the Maguire Meservey College of Health and Human Services, the McKeown School of 
Education, the School of Social Work, the School of Graduate Studies and the School of Continuing and 
Professional Studies. For the Fall 2023 semester, Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Enrollments were 4,056 
(undergraduate) and 883 (graduate).  Total FTE enrollment for the past five years is shown below. 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Continued 
(Unaudited) 

- 5 -

University students are diverse, hailing from 40 states and 47 countries. Over 44.1% of our first-year students 
(freshman) have self-identified as students of color (fall semester 2023). The approximate gender breakdown 
is 39% male and 61% female. The University operates five residence halls with a design capacity for 1,928 
students.  Salem State fields men’s and women’s teams in 15 sports; plus 10 intramural/club teams. Athletic 
teams compete in the Eastern Collegiate Athletic Conference ECAC) Division III, the Little East Conference 
(LEC), the Massachusetts State College Athletic Conference (MASCAC), the National Collegiate Athletic 
Conference (NCAA) Division III, and the New England College Athletic Conference (NECAC). 

In support of the university, there are two component units. The Salem State University Assistance 
Corporation (SSUAC, or the Assistance Corporation), formed in 1995 by the legislature, promotes the 
orderly growth and development of the University. The Salem State University Alumni Association and 
Foundation (SSUAF, or the Foundation), a separate 501(c)(3) corporation is the primary recipient of 
endowments, alumni funds and various other donations made to benefit the University. Of the University’s 
living alumni (nearly 73,000), more than 58,000 remain in Massachusetts.  

Mission and Strategic Plan  
Salem State University developed its mission and strategic plan through an extensive community-wide 
process and the Massachusetts Department of Higher Education approved it in May 2023. The mission, 
values, and strategic goals are provided below:  

University Mission  
As a comprehensive university, Salem State prepares students of diverse backgrounds and interests to 
achieve their educational and career goals and to contribute to a global society as ethical and engaged 
community members. As a public university, Salem State also makes critical contributions to civic life, 
environmental sustainability, and the cultural, social, and economic vitality of the North Shore region.  

Core Institutional Values 
Academic Excellence –We are dedicated to assuring teaching excellence and providing experiential and 
culturally responsive pedagogies and other high-impact strategies that promote learning in and beyond 
the classroom. We are committed to building and supporting a diverse faculty of highly qualified 
teachers and scholars who are equity-minded and student-focused. We balance an unwavering 
commitment to an educational experience firmly grounded in the liberal arts with the responsibility to 
be responsive to regional workforce trends. We believe in promoting faculty and student research and 
creative endeavors that expand knowledge and academic disciplines, inform or inspire others, and 
connect us with the wider world. 

Student-Centeredness –We believe in, care about, and empower every student, and we believe everyone 
on campus, no matter the job description, has a role to play in contributing to student success. Being 
student-centered means learning who our students are and what they bring when they enroll; 
understanding who they wish to become and where they want their educations to lead them; helping 
them discover their strengths and passions; and then supporting and challenging them to dig deeper, 
reach higher, and go farther than they imagined possible.  
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Justice, Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion –We promote an inclusive campus environment that respects 
human differences, welcomes, and celebrates diversity in all its dimensions, promotes global awareness, 
and inspires students, faculty, and staff to be champions of equity and social justice. We believe justice, 
diversity, equity, and inclusion should be key considerations in university decision making, resource 
allocation, program design, and policy development.  

Belonging –We are committed to ensuring that the campus life and the classroom experience provide a 
sense of belonging to all students, particularly those from under-represented or marginalized 
backgrounds, first-generation students, and students who struggle economically or with challenges that 
may make them feel alone, different, or excluded.  

Open Inquiry –We promote and value critical exploration of diverse perspectives and democratic 
principles through open dialogue and civil discourse. 

Civic Engagement –We believe a public university must be connected with and contributing to local, 
state, national, and global communities by engaging meaningfully in all spheres of civic life and 
fostering productive exchanges of knowledge and skills to the mutual benefit of students, faculty, and 
community.  

Access and Affordability –As a public institution, Salem State’s education should be readily and 
affordably accessible to any student from any background who qualifies for admission. Ability to pay 
should not be a barrier to access or completion. 

Environmental Sustainability –Salem State is deeply committed to reducing its environmental impact 
and to wise stewardship of natural resources. We believe the university must do all it can to promote 
and model environmental sustainability and to help Salem State students understand both what is at 
stake and what can be done to address an accelerating climate emergency. 

Collaborative Leadership –We value all voices and viewpoints, and through a commitment to 
transparency, clear communication, collaboration, and shared governance, we are committed to 
providing all members of the Salem State community meaningful opportunities to discuss and have 
input on issues affecting the future direction of the university. 

Draf
t

RMA 29 of 166



SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Continued 
(Unaudited) 

- 7 -

Salem State’s Strategic Goals (2023-2028)  
Our commitment to student success and life readiness is the unifying commitment at the very center of the 
strategic plan and will remain Salem State University’s North Star. We are committed to fostering student 
success and life readiness by creating a challenging and supportive learning environment that fully engages 
students in their learning and promotes attainment of academic, personal, and career goals. This core 
commitment is reflected in and supported by the strategic plan’s seven goals and associated objectives. 

Goal I. Academic Excellence and Active Learning 
Develop and support high-quality academic programs and innovative educational experiences that equip 
Salem State graduates to thrive in an evolving workforce and to navigate confidently in an increasingly 
complex and global society. 

Goal II. Civic Engagement and Public Good 
Cultivate a civically engaged community of learners and scholars committed to public problem solving 
in a diverse democracy, and align curriculum, co-curriculum, research, and creative activity with 
opportunities to promote the public good. 

Goal III. Justice, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
Increase the diversity of our campus community, and promote equity and inclusion in all programs, 
policies, and practices. 

Goal IV. Environmental Stewardship and Climate Action 
Reflect Salem State’s core commitment to protecting the natural environment in campus facilities, 
operations, academics, and decision making, and equip faculty, staff and students to understand and 
engage in addressing the climate emergency. 

Goal V. Campus Community and Culture 
Foster a campus culture that fuels school spirit, sense of community and collegiality, mutual respect 
and trust, and shared commitment to student success and the Salem State’s long-term future. 

Goal VI. Operational Excellence and Infrastructure 
Continuously assess and improve the administrative and operational systems, structures, and processes 
that support the university’s mission of teaching, research, and public service, and maintain physical 
facilities and technologies necessary to deliver the mission effectively and efficiently. 

Goal VII. Financial Vitality and Sustainability 
Fortify SSU’s financial foundation by stabilizing enrollment, growing income from existing and new 
revenue streams, advocating for greater public funding support, continuing to build a culture of 
philanthropy, and aligning resources with strategic priorities. 
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Accreditation  
The University is accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education (“NECHE”) and 
successfully completed a comprehensive 10-year accreditation review in the Fall 2021. Accreditation of an 
institution of higher education by the Commission indicates that it meets or exceeds criteria for the 
assessment of institutional quality periodically applied through a peer review process. An accredited college 
or university is one which has available the necessary resources to achieve its stated purposes through 
appropriate educational programs, is substantially doing so, and gives reasonable evidence that it will 
continue to do so in the foreseeable future. Institutional integrity is also addressed through accreditation.  

Significant Events and Accomplishments 
Salem State had many academic and campus accomplishments to celebrate during FY24. What follows is 
an itemized list representing a range of these activities. 

University Programs, Celebrations, or Recognitions 
ꞏ Forten Hall Dedication 
ꞏ Jamie McKeown named recipient of the Dr. Marilyn Flaherty ’54 Distinguished Alumnus Award 
ꞏ Land acknowledgement policy instituted 
ꞏ Alison King and Tomás Gonzalez – named fellows for Berry IOP 
ꞏ Dr. Ilyasah Shabazz speech 
ꞏ Holocaust survivor Endre (Andy) Sarkanay talk 
ꞏ 50th anniversary of Soundings East publication 
ꞏ 45th Annual Darwin Festival 
ꞏ 20th anniversary of the Congressional internship Program 
ꞏ 10th anniversary of Center for Holocaust and Genocide Studies 
ꞏ Inaugural New England HIS/MSI Conference Announced, to be held in July 2024 

Grants / Awards to Students 
ꞏ Approximately 1,600 degrees to be awarded 
ꞏ Seven theater students honored at 2024 Region 1 Kennedy Center American College Theater Festival 
ꞏ SSU received US DOE UG International Studies and Foreign Language Grant 
ꞏ First scholarship financed by investment fund managed by students awarded 
ꞏ Stipends and Tuition Awards to Interning Bertolon School students 
ꞏ School of Social Work $1.9M grant for student internships 
ꞏ School of Social Work $1.4M grant to support and to promote diversity in the profession 
ꞏ Berry Institute of Politics (IOP) 2024 public service internship scholarships announced 

Grants / Recognition of Faculty 
ꞏ SSU Named Top Producer of Fulbright Scholars for the third time 
ꞏ Vijay Kanagala awarded $2.3M NSF Grant to study racial equity 
ꞏ Professors Barbosa and Naidoo named 2024 North Star Collective Fellows 

Governanceꞏ SSU Alumni Association and SSU Foundation combined into a single board 
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Statement of Net Position Summary & Analysis 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on the University’s assets and deferred outflows of 
resources, less its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the residual balance being reported as 
net position. Total net position as of June 30, 2024 is $102.5 million, compared to $82.6 million as of June 
30, 2023.  Within FY24’s net position, the largest component is the net investment in capital assets of $97.6 
million. The University’s total unrestricted net position for fiscal year 2024 is negative $8.5 million, 
however this figure includes the impact of GASB No. 68 and 75 standards relating to pension and other 
post-employment benefits, discussed below.  

Excluding the impact of GASB No. 68 and 75, unrestricted net position at June 30, 2024 is $68.9 million, 
an increase of $7.2 million compared to fiscal year 2023. 
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GASB No. 68 and 75 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Other Post-
Employment Benefits (“OPEB”) 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued two standards that materially impacted the 
presentation of the university’s financial statements some years ago, notably GASB Statement No. 68 - 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and GASB Statement 75 - Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (commonly referred to as OPEB.).  GASB No. 
68 was implemented by Salem State University in its FY 2015 financial statements which required, among 
other impacts, restating the net position as of June 30, 2014.  GASB 75 was implemented by Salem State 
University in its FY 2018 financial statements which required, among other things, restating net position as 
of July 1, 2016 in order to provide comparability with FY 2018.  The table below shows the impact of GASB 
68 (Pension) and GASB 75 (OPEB) on the Statements of Net Position and Revenues, Expenses & Changes 
in Net Position for FY 2024 and FY 2023. 
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FY 2024 FY 2023

Statement of Net Position Excerpts related to GASB 68/75
Deferred Outflows (like an Asset):
     GASB 68 - Pension 3,897$      3,325$      
     GASB 75 - Other Post Employment Benefits 6,246        8,500        
     Total deferred outflows 10,143      11,825      

Net Pension & OPEB liability (Non-Current Liability):
     GASB 68 - Pension (22,111)     (20,947)     
     GASB 75 - Other Post Employment Benefits (23,516)     (26,362)     
     Total Net Pension & OPEB Liability (45,627)     (47,309)     

Deferred Inflows (like a Liability):
     GASB 68 - Pension (7,259)       (12,626)     
     GASB 75 - Other Post Employment Benefits (34,662)     (47,515)     
     Total deferred inflows (41,921)     (60,141)     

Net position impact - (Decrease) (77,405)$   (95,625)$   

One-year Change 18,220      17,561      

Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Net Position Excerpts related to GASB 68/75
Pension & OPEB Expenses:*
     GASB 68 - Pension (4,775)$     (5,896)$     
     GASB 75 - Other Post Employment Benefits (13,445)     (11,665)     
     Total Net Pension & OPEB Expense** (18,220)$   (17,561)$   

 (In Thousands) 

* These Pension and OPEB amounts are related solely to the GASB 68 & 75 adjustments and have
been allocated among the Operating Expense categories.

** These "Negative Expenses" for FY24 and FY23 are a decrease of expenses and cause Net Position 
to be increased.

Draf
t

RMA 34 of 166



SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Continued 
(Unaudited) 

- 12 -

The table below shows the impact of GASB 68 (Pension) and GASB 75 (OPEB) on unrestricted net 
position for the years as presented. 

The net pension liability balance in the June 30, 2024 and 2023 financial statements amounted to 
approximately $22.1 million and $20.9 million, respectively.  The total net OPEB liability balance in the 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 financial statements amounted to approximately $23.5 million and $26.4 million, 
respectively.  Combined, the pension and OPEB liabilities at June 30, 2024 and 2023 were $45.6 million 
and $47.3 million respectively. 

GASB No. 87 and 96 - Accounting and Financial Reporting for Leases and Subscription-Based 
Information Technology Arrangements 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued two additional standards that materially 
impacted the presentation of the university’s financial statements.  GASB 87 – Leases, was applicable for 
yearend June 30, 2022, and GASB Statement No. 96 – Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements (“SBITA”), was applicable for yearend June 30, 2023.  Both standards required the University 
to restate its prior year net position as of July 1st to provide comparability with the current year’s financial 
statements.  

Without 
Pension & 

OPEB
Pension 

Adjustment
OPEB 

Adjustment

With 
Pension 

and OPEB Difference

Unrestricted Net Position at June 30, 2022 47,274$   (36,145)$     (77,041)$    (65,912)$   

Unrestricted net increase (decrease) for FY 2023 14,367 5,896 11,665  31,928

Unrestricted Net Position at June 30, 2023 61,641 (30,249) (65,376) (33,984) (95,625)$    

Unrestricted net increase (decrease) for FY 2024 7,219 4,775 13,445 25,439

Unrestricted Net Position at June 30, 2024 68,860$   (25,474)$     (51,931)$    (8,545)$     (77,405)$    

Unrestricted Net Position Impacted by 

(In Thousands)

GASB 68 (Pension) and 75 (OPEB)
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As part of the university being required to implement GASB 87 and 96, right of use assets (“Leased assets") 
are recorded within the financial statements under capital assets.  These leased assets represent the 
University’s authority (right) to utilize a leased item over the duration of an agreed-upon lease term with 
another entity or vendor. The leased assets under GASB 87 are for buildings with the MSCBA, equipment 
with a vendor and space rental with the Assistance Corporation and under GASB 96 are for software with 
vendors. These leased assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term for each lease.  The 
total remaining unamortized leased assets related to lease liabilities was $186.6 million and $195.7 million 
at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The table below shows the significant impacts of GASB 87 and 96 on assets and liabilities in the Statements 
of Net Position and on interest expense in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Net Position. 

Statement of Net Position Summary & Analysis 
A summarized comparison of the University’s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and 
net position at June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 follows on the next page.  Note that this information includes 
the impact of the Pension, OPEB and Lease accounting standards:  

(In Thousands)

6/30/2024 6/30/2023
6/30/22 
Restated

Capital Assets - Leased 219,597$    219,597$      219,437$     
Capital Assets - SBITA 6,896 5,546 2,928

Capital Assets Total - Leased & SBITA 226,493$    225,143$    222,365$   

Accumulated Amortization (39,861) (29,488) (19,216)

Net Leased & SBITA Assets 186,632$    195,655$    203,149$   

Leased & SBITA Liability 199,196$    212,461$    216,781$   

Impact on Net Position from GASB 87 & 96 (12,564)$   (16,806)$     (13,632)$    Draf
t

RMA 36 of 166



SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Continued 
(Unaudited) 

- 14 -

Restated

Assets: 2024 2023 2022

Current Assets 125,285$      111,544$      95,500$       

Capital and Right to Use Assets (net) 335,643    347,079   355,535  

Noncurrent Assets 1,282  1,902    2,028   

  Total Assets 462,210    460,525   453,063  

Deferred Outflows of Resources 10,143   11,824  11,358    

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 472,353$      472,349$      464,421$     

Liabilities:

Current Liabilities 43,918$     37,355$     36,724$       

Noncurrent Liabilities 268,754    286,724   289,661  

  Total Liabilities 312,672    324,079   326,385  

Deferred Inflows of Resources 57,197   65,669  86,850    

Net Position:

Net investment in capital assets 97,611   103,032   105,488  

Restricted 13,418   13,553  11,610    

Unrestricted (8,545)   (33,984)   (65,912)  

  Total Net Position 102,484    82,601  51,186    

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows 
and Net Position 472,353$      472,349$      464,421$     

Statement of Net Position Summary & Analysis

(In Thousands)
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Highlights for Statement of Net Position Summary & Analysis 
 
Total assets increased in FY 2024 by $1.7 million or 0.4% over the prior year compared with a 1.6% increase 
of $7.5 million in FY 2023. Most of the changes within the asset categories are primarily associated with an 
increase in cash and investments of $15.2 million which is offset by a decrease in receivables of $2.1 million 
and capital and right to use assets of $11.4 million.  The decrease of capital and right to use assets was due 
to depreciation ($9.4 million), amortization of right to use assets ($10.4 million) exceeding the capital asset 
additions of $8.3 million.  Decreases in deferred outflows are primarily related to adjustments in actuarial 
OPEB costs from FY 2023 to FY 2024.  Total liabilities decreased in FY 2024 by $11.4 million or 3.5% 
over the prior year. This change is primarily attributable to decreases in pension and OPEB liabilities of $1.7 
million, bonds and notes payable of $3.6 million and the lease liability of $13.3 million offset by increases 
in accruals and deferred revenue of $7.2 million.  The decrease in deferred inflows of $8.5 million is 
primarily due to the decreases for Pension and OPEB actuarial calculations of $18.2 million, offset by 
increases in deferred gains on bond refunding of $9.7 million. 
 
For fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, total net position amounted to $102.5 million, $82.6 million, and $51.2 
million, respectively. The University’s net position in the investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, 
equipment, and leases) less any related debt used to acquire those assets is the largest positive component of 
the total net position, which is consistent with prior years and is detailed below in the next section.  The 
University uses its capital assets to provide services to students, faculty, and staff; consequently, these assets 
are not available for future spending. Although the University’s investment in its capital assets is reported 
net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from 
other sources, such as room rents, auxiliary and other fees, since the capital assets themselves are not in cash 
form and cannot be used to satisfy these liabilities. 
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A summarized comparison of the University’s capital assets categories at June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 is 
as follows: 

The following graph shows the progression of certain gross capital asset values over the last five years: 

2024 2023
2022 

(Restated)

Building and improvements 266,517$      256,836$      254,252$      

Construction in Progress 2,548    6,668    2,863  
Land 2,536    2,536    2,536  
Furniture and Equipment 23,022   22,036  32,547   
Leased buildings 204,344  204,344    204,344    

Leased space 14,657   14,657  14,497   
Leased equipment 596   596    596     
Leased software 6,897    5,546    2,928  

Total capital assets 521,117  513,219    514,563    

Less: 
  Accumulated depreciation (145,613)    (136,652)    (139,812)    
   Accumulated Amortization (39,861)   (29,488)  (19,216)   

Total capital assets, net 335,643$      347,079$      355,535$      

(In Thousands)

Capital Asset Summary
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Capital Assets Changes 
The University’s total capital asset changes as of June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are depicted below: 

2024 2023 2022

Building and Land Improvements
Meier Hall Renovation/Roof Repair 1,298$     686$      -$      

O'Keefe and Admin Roofing -    -  4,964   

Ellison Roof and Steampipe 647   -  -  

Sullivan Building Repairs 2,807   -  -  

Information Technology 908   1,545   133  

Parking Improvements -    -  481  

Dining Capital Improvements - 174  -  

Various Other Improvements - 119  726  

Energy and Lighting 4,175   2,155 -  

Net Additions to Buildings and Improvements 9,835   4,679   6,304   

Construction in Progress ("CIP")

Various Ongoing Renovation Projects* 5,002   6,126   2,121   

Energy and Lighting Projects 213   1,306   -  

Project Bold 940   -  -  

Roofing Projects -    -  1,176   

IT Projects 800   1,051   335  

Additions to Construction in Progress 6,955   8,483   3,632   

Transfer of Construction in Progress to Capital Assets (11,075)  (4,679)   (6,304)   

Net Additions (Reductions) to CIP (4,120)  3,804   (2,672)   

Furniture & Equipment
Fitness - 199  -   

Facilities 883   - -   
IT 357   -  -  

Net Additions to Furniture and Equipment 1,240   199  -  

Leased Assets
Leased buildings -    -  (3,426)   

Leased space - 160  -  

Leased software 1,351   2,618 -  

Net Additions (Reductions) to Leased Assets 1,351   2,778   (3,426)   

Total Net Asset Additions 8,306   11,460   206  

Depreciation Expense for the Year 9,369   9,425   9,204   

Amortization Expense for the Year 10,373   10,272   9,974   

Loss on  Disposal - 219  -  

Net Decrease in Capital Assets (11,436)$   (8,456)$       (18,972)$     

* These various CIP projects consist of ITS upgrades, steam plant, roofing, and building renovations.

(In Thousands)

Changes in Capital Assets
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Net Investment in Capital and ROU Assets and Long-Term Debt Comparison 
The University is a lessee of multiple long-term leases for buildings, equipment, and office space from the 
MSCBA, a vendor, and the Assistance Corporation under GASB 87, Leases. Long-term leases for software 
vendors are covered under GASB 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements.  Lease 
payments reduce the principal of the lease liability obligation recorded in the Statement of Net Position; 
interest expense is recorded within the Statement of Revenues and Expenses.  The University paid interest 
on these leases and software subscription arrangements of $7.1 million for each of the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023.    

The University paid interest on Bonds and Notes Payables of $200 thousand and $503 thousand for the 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The following graph displays long-term debt for the Lease Liability and Bond and Notes Payables on the 
university’s books and the Net Investment in Capital Assets balances for fiscal years ended 2020 through 
2024: 

It should be noted that the asset category “Capital and ROU assets, net” is not the same as the “Net 
Investment in Capital Assets” in the net position category.  Net Investment in Capital Assets includes the 
same activity as the Capital and ROU assets but also includes any related debt liabilities and deferred 
inflow of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, improvement or refinancing of 
those Capital and ROU assets. 
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Statements of Revenues Expenses and Changes in Net Position Summary & Analysis 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position Summary shows how the University’s 
net position changed during the last three fiscal years. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the 
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of cash flows. Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods 
(e.g., the accrual for compensated absences).  A summarized comparison of the University’s operating and 
non-operating revenues and expenses and the resulting increase or decrease in net position at June 30, 2024, 
2023 and 2022 follows.  Note that this information includes the impact of the GASB 68 Pensions, GASB 75 
OPEB, GASB 87 Leases and GASB 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements 
accounting standards. 
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Restated
2024 2023 2022

Operating Revenues:

Tuition and Fees, Net 51,291$    55,548$    57,374$    

Federal, State, and Private Grants 29,078  22,749  21,530  

Sales and Services 585  433   311   

Auxiliary and Other 23,516  22,862  20,201  

 Total Operating Revenues 104,470  101,592  99,416  

Operating Expenses:

Compensation, benefits and other * 111,352  100,559  101,464  

Supplies and services 33,939  29,507  30,325  

Utilities 3,948  3,540  3,730  

Depreciation 9,369  9,424  9,204  

Amortization 10,373  10,272  10,349  

Scholarships 18,163  12,701  19,891  

 Total Operating Expenses 187,144  166,003  174,963  

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):

State appropriations 89,565  78,474  77,309  

Federal Grants 748  1,536  20,660  

State Grants - 4,700 -  

Gifts 4,206  4,246 3,057  

Investment Income (Loss), net 10,765  7,296 (5,896)   

MSCBA funds received 771  1,118 156   

Gain Early Retirement of Debt -   -  275   

Interest Expense (7,297)   (7,611)   (8,055)   

Other Non-Operating Expenses - (219) -  

     Total Non-Operating Revenues, Net 98,758  89,540  87,506  

Capital Grants 3,799  6,287  2,155  

 Increase in Net Position 19,883$      31,416$    14,114$    

* This total is comprised of the following:

Compensation and Benefits 129,572$ 118,120$  118,669$  

Pension and OPEB expense (18,220)   (17,561)   (17,205)   

111,352$ 100,559$  101,464$  

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in
Net Position Summary

(In Thousands)
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Highlights for Operating Revenues 
The increase in total operating revenues of $2.9 million (2.8%) in FY 2024 resulted primarily from the 
following: 

Tuition and Fees, net: Tuition and fees, net of certain scholarships and fellowships decreased by 7.7% 
($4.3 million) in FY 2024.  The decrease is due to continued declining enrollments while the university 
operated in the aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic.   

Federal, State and Private Grants: Federal, state and private grant revenues increased $6.3 million or 27.8% 
over FY 2024.  This change is primarily due to increased state grant revenue for student financial aid from 
the Commonwealth.   

Auxiliary Enterprises and Other: Auxiliary enterprises and other revenues increased $0.6 million or 2.9% 
in FY 2024.  This was due to higher housing and meal plan revenue associated with rate increases over FY 
2023.    

Highlights for Operating Expenses 
The increase in total operating expenses of $21.1 million (12.7%) in FY 2024 over prior year resulted 
primarily from the following: 

Compensation and Benefits: Compensation and benefits showed an increase during FY 2024 of $10.8 
million (10.7%).  This was primarily due to contractual increases, including some payments retroactive to 
the prior fiscal year, along with increased fringe benefit rates.   

Depreciation and Amortization (GASB 87 and 96): Depreciation for buildings, building improvements 
and other assets and amortization on leased assets remained fairly consistent for FY 2024 when compared 
to FY2023. 

Changes in GASB 68, Pensions Activity: The tenth year of adoption of GASB 68 for pensions resulted in a 
negative expense (decrease of expenses) of $4.8 million in FY 2024.  This is due to actuarial computations 
and changes in the discount rate utilized in calculating the pension liability, as provided by the 
Commonwealth’s Comptroller’s Office.   

Changes in GASB 75, OPEB Activity: 
The seventh year of adoption of GASB 75 for other post-employment benefits resulted in a negative expense 
(decrease of expenses) of $13.4 million in FY 2024.  This is due to actuarial computations and changes in 
the discount rate utilized in calculating the pension liability, as provided by the Commonwealth’s 
Comptroller’s Office.   
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Enactment and Changes for GASB 87, Leases and GASB 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements activity: 
Adoption of GASB 96 and GASB 87 resulted in reclassifying activity that formerly flowed through the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position as Supplies and Services expenses to 
interest expense within the Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses) section and to reduction of principal on the 
Statement of Net Position.  

Highlights for Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 
The increase in non-operating revenues (expenses) in FY 2024 of $9.2 million (10.3%) resulted primarily 
from the following: 

State Appropriations: State appropriations increased by $11.1 million (14.1%) in FY 2024 over prior year, 
primarily to support employee payroll and related fringe benefit costs, including for retroactive and current 
year salary increases.  Greater than half (69.1%) of the University’s payroll and fringe is funded by state 
general appropriations.  

Federal Grants: Federal grants in the amount of $0.7 million and $1.5 million in FY 2024 and FY 2023 
respectively, represented funds received from FEMA for reimbursement of expenses incurred due to the 
COVID pandemic.  In FY 2022, the University received $20.7 million in federal grants which was 
comprised of $20.3 million of HEERF funding along with $0.4 million in FEMA reimbursement.  Of the 
$20.3 million in HEERF funding received in FY 2022, $9.5 million was for assistance to students and 
$10.8 million to the University for offsetting costs and lost revenue related to the COVID pandemic.    

Gifts:  During FY 2024 gifts transferred from the Salem State University Foundation remained constant 
around $4.2 million as compared to FY 2023. 

Investment Income, net: Investment income increased by $3.5 million in FY 2024 and is attributable to 
favorable market conditions.  Draf
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Managed Revenue and Expense Report 

The university operates using an internal Managed Revenues and Expenses Report format which is not 
intended to conform to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP); this report distinguishes 
between managed and non-cash revenue and expense activity. The Managed Revenues and Expenses 
format allows the reader to focus on the elements of financial activity that university administration must 
control and manage while displaying certain non-cash GAAP based revenue and expense items in a section 
at the bottom. Importantly, Managed Revenue and Managed Expense are calculated on an accrual basis; 
thus, they are not intended to represent cash in and cash out.  To illustrate, while the Managed Net Income 
figure for FY 2024 is $7.8 million, cash actually increased by $8.1 million. Other classification differences 
between the management report and GAAP basis report exist.  For example, in the management report all 
financial aid expenses are displayed in the Statement of Net Position as a deduction from revenue rather 
than how they are reported in the GAAP report as a contra revenue in some cases and an expense in other 
cases. At the bottom line, Increase in Net Position per the management report is the same as per the GAAP-
basis audited Statement of Revenues and Expenses for completed years.   

The next page shows the Managed Revenue and Expense report for the three fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 
2022. Managed Net Income was positive for each of the three years.  Managed Net Income for FY 2024 
was approximately $7.8 million, which represents a 51.9% decrease over the prior year.  
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The description of the Managed Revenue and Expense Report below is on the preceding page and must 
be read to understand the intent and meaning of this non-GAAP report. 

FY2024 FY2023
FY2022  

(Restated)
Managed Revenue:

Net Tuition and Fees  $       33,128  $     42,848  $     37,483 
Federal, State, Private Grants and Assistance   29,826   28,984   42,189 

Auxiliary Enterprises   23,360   22,710   20,063 

State General Appropriations   89,565   78,474   77,309 

Other Revenue   10,288   7,975   5,325 

Total Managed Revenue   186,167   180,991   182,369 

Year over Year Change 2.9% -0.8% 9.8%

Managed Expenses:
Compensation   129,571   118,120   118,669 
Support   27,780   26,229   23,044 
Facility-related   21,046   20,479   23,422 

Total Managed Expenses   178,397   164,828   165,135 
Year over Year Change 8.2% -0.2% 19.3%

Managed Net Income  7,770   16,163   17,234 

Non-Cash Revenue/(Expenses):
Capital Grants  3,799   6,287   2,155 
Depreciation  (9,369)   (9,425)   (9,204)
Unrealized Gains/(Losses)  5,424   4,152   (7,559)
GASB 68 Pension  4,775   5,896   6,639 
GASB 75 OPEB   13,445   11,665   10,566 
GASB 87 Leases  (5,938)   (3,163)   (5,961)
GASB 96 Leases (23) 60  (32)
Gain on Early Retirement of Debt - -  276 
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets - (219)  - 

Total Non-Cash Revenue/(Expenses)   12,113   15,253   (3,120)
Year over Year Change 20.6% 588.9% 58.2%

Total Increase in Net Position  $       19,883  $     31,416  $     14,114 

Managed Revenue and Expense Report Format
(In Thousands)

Draf
t

RMA 47 of 166



SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis - Continued 
(Unaudited) 

- 25 -

Statement of Cash Flows 
The Statement of Cash Flows is reported on the direct method. The direct method portrays net cash flows 
from operations as major classes of operating receipts (e.g., tuition and fees) and disbursements (e.g., cash 
paid to employees for services). 

A summarized comparison of the University’s cash flows and the resulting increase in cash at June 30, 
2024, 2023 and 2022 follows. It should be noted that for the presentation below, the state appropriation 
funds are shown in Operating Activities rather than Non-Capital Financing Activities since State 
appropriations are intended and used to support operations. According to accounting standards, the state 
appropriation is presented as required in Non-Capital Financing Activities on the audited Cash Flow 
Statement of the Financial Statements.  

Highlights for Cash Flows 
The overall increase in cash and cash equivalents for FY 2024 amounted to $8.1 million.  Cash applied to 
Operating Activities decreased over FY 2023 due to lower tuition and fees coupled with higher payments 
outpacing increases in grants and state appropriations.   Cash provided by Non-Capital Financing Activities 
in FY 2024 was lower than the prior year primarily from a reduction in COVID pandemic related funding 
received. Cash applied to Capital Financing Activities in FY 2024 was lower than the prior year primarily 
from a reduction in principal and interest due to the refunding of bonds.  Cash provided by Investing 
Activities in FY 2024 exceeded the prior year primarily due to improved market conditions. 

Compliance with Debt Policy 
In FY 2024, the University did not undertake significant new debt for projects.  Therefore, the University 
was not required by its debt policy to perform a feasibility study with financial ratios.  

2024 2023 2022

Operating Activities 17,453$    19,982$     9,071$      

Non Capital Financing Activities 5,121  8,745    23,663    

 Capital Financing Activities (17,764)    (19,591)    (17,149)   

Investing Activities 3,249  1,615    (16,484)   

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 8,059$      10,751$     (899)$        

(In Thousands)

Summary of Cash Flows
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Looking Ahead to FY 2025  
Salem State’s 2023–2028 Strategic Plan was approved in May 2023 and is focused on the unifying 
commitment of Student Success and Life Readiness. Much work has been done to begin implementation. 
The FY25 budget includes $625,000 to fund initiatives to advance the work.  

During FY25, the university will host a major conference centered on exploring best practices given our 
status as an emerging Hispanic Serving Institution (HSI)/Minority Service Institution (MSI.) The 
university will also refresh its application to the Carnegie Foundation for continued recognition as a 
Community Engagement university. The university is integrating these two distinctive aspects of our 
identity to ensure that students who progress through our programs are developed to be successful, 
empowered advocates for themselves and their communities. 

Additionally, to support the university’s strategic goal of operational excellence, the budget includes a 
$750,000 investment for IT infrastructure and maintenance. The campus is committed to providing up-to-
date technological systems. Investments in IT contribute to the efficiency and effectiveness of various 
university operations both academic and administrative. 

The Commonwealth renewed its five-year critical maintenance funding program; the university will 
receive DCAMM funds for the larger deferred maintenance projects. The Use 
of DCAMM funds requires the university to fund a portion of each project. Funds to support this 
obligation are included in the FY25 budget. 

SSU BOLD, the major capital project that will develop new science labs as an addition to Meier Hall, 
completely renovate Horace Mann as the new home of the McGuire Meservey College of Health and 
Human Services, and sell South Campus, continues. Schematic design is complete and was certified in 
July 2024. The project has entered the design development phase -- the last, important stage before the 
beginning of construction. The university is sure to reap benefits from the facility improvements, updated 
labs, and new classrooms, likely in 2027. The FY25 budget does not include any payment to the 
Commonwealth for the university’s share of the project, as this will be a future item. 

Requests for Further Information 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Salem State University’s finances for 
all those with an interest in the University’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Vice 
President for Finance and Facilities/CFO, 352 Lafayette Street, Salem, Massachusetts 01970-5353. 
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2024 2023

2024 2023 Assistance Assistance 
University University Corporation Corporation

Current Assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents 47,748,243$   39,212,279$   296,295$      285,395$      
  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7,735,073       8,518,602       - - 
  Deposits held by State Treasurer 2,195,298       2,967,502       - - 
  Cash held by State Treasurer 3,573,256       2,754,865       - - 
  Deposits held by MSCBA and DCAMM 837,180          577,252          - - 
  Investments 57,655,481     50,197,802     - - 
  Accounts, grants and other receivable, net 5,307,641       6,988,557       1,526            1,138            
  Loans receivable 155,390          275,439          - - 
  Lease receivable, current portion - - 349,675        483,630        
  Other current assets 77,457            51,385            2,495            2,675            

Total Current Assets 125,285,019   111,543,683   649,991        772,838        

Non-Current Assets:
  Investments 100,000          100,000          - - 
  Loans receivable, net of current portion 431,680          625,886          - - 
  Lease receivable, net of current portion - - 10,897,427   11,125,982   
  Capital assets, net 335,643,456   347,079,209   19,802,417   20,492,168   
  Debt service reserve 750,150          1,176,075       - - 

Total Non-Current Assets 336,925,286   348,981,170   30,699,844   31,618,150   

Total Assets 462,210,305   460,524,853   31,349,835   32,390,988   

Deferred Outflow of Resources:
  Deferred outflows for pensions 3,896,980       3,324,916       - - 
  Deferred outflows for other post employment benefits 6,246,020       8,499,513       - - 

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 10,143,000     11,824,429     - - 

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 472,353,305$ 472,349,282$ 31,349,835$ 32,390,988$ 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Primary Component 
Government Unit

Statements of Net Position

June 30, 2024 and 2023

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources
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(Restated)
2024 2023 2024 2023

Assistance Assistance 
University University Corporation Corporation

Current Liabilities:
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,073,998$     6,490,156$     65,455$     61,453$        

 Accrued payroll 10,170,934  9,005,690  -   -   
 Accrued compensated absences 7,013,706    6,309,857  -   -   
 Accrued workers' compensation 249,306    249,306  -   -   
 Unearned revenues 9,390,284    5,691,506  4,732  5,282  
 Note payable 102,677    201,927  30,546   29,439   
  Bonds payable 2,591,499    2,660,082  -   -   
 Lease liability 4,533,758    5,242,326  219,353    187,542    
  SBITA liability 1,522,366    1,248,244  -   -   
  Deposits 269,751    255,411  -   -   

Total Current Liabilities 43,918,279  37,354,505   320,086    283,716    

Non-Current Liabilities:
 Accrued compensated absences 4,743,935    4,464,734  -   -   
 Accrued workers' compensation 1,818,923    1,818,923  -   -   
 Notes payable, net of current portion 53,090  155,767  953,603    983,430    
  Bond payable, net of current portion 22,130,133  25,474,333   -   -   
 Lease Liability, net of current portion 191,789,962   204,162,024   10,538,848   10,758,202   
  SBITA Liability, net of current portion 1,349,925    1,808,470  -   -   
 Loans payable - Federal financial assistance programs 1,240,831    1,531,278  -   -   
 Net pension liability 22,110,554  20,946,990   -   -   
 Net other post employment benefits liability 23,516,399  26,361,589   -   -   
 Other non-current liabilities -   -    31,544   30,377   

Total Non-Current Liabilities 268,753,752   286,724,108   11,523,995   11,772,009   

Total Liabilities 312,672,031   324,078,613   11,844,081   12,055,725   

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
 Public- private partnerships 265,188    336,298  -   -   
 Deferred inflows for pensions 7,259,455    12,626,204   -   -   
 Deferred inflows for other post employment benefits 34,662,336  47,515,280   -   -   
 Deferred inflows for bond refunding 15,009,727  5,191,624  -   -   
 Deferred inflows for leases -  -   9,673,738     10,386,724   

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 57,196,706  65,669,406   9,673,738     10,386,724   

Net Position:
 Net investment in capital assets 97,610,893  103,031,709   8,060,067     8,533,555     
  Restricted:

 Nonexpendable 110,000    110,000  -   -   
 Expendable 13,308,310  13,443,133   -   -   

  Unrestricted (8,544,635)   (33,983,579)  1,771,949     1,414,984     

Total Net Position 102,484,568   82,601,263   9,832,016     9,948,539     

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Net Position 472,353,305$ 472,349,282$ 31,349,835$ 32,390,988$ 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Government Unit

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position

Primary Component
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(Restated)
2024 2023 2024 2023

Assistance Assistance 
University University Corporation Corporation

Operating Revenues:
Tuition and fees 70,736,948$        74,159,486$      -$  -$     

Less: scholarships and fellowships (19,445,696)  (18,611,121)   - -    
Net tuition and fees 51,291,252   55,548,365    -    -    
Federal grants and contracts 12,372,171   12,238,979    -    -    
State grants and contracts 15,340,783   9,569,590   -    -    
Private grants and contracts 1,364,938   940,101   - 81,995
Sales and services of educational departments 585,059   432,982   - -
Auxiliary enterprises 23,360,468   22,710,462    - -
Lease revenue -   -   1,100,530   1,202,122   
Other operating revenues 155,496   151,353   67,232  53,920  

   Total Operating Revenues 104,470,167    101,591,832  1,167,762   1,338,037   

Operating Expenses:
 Educational and general:

Instruction 55,739,755   51,642,944    -    -    
Public service 1,059,959   1,212,802   -    -    
Academic support 18,491,871   15,684,154    -    -    
Student services 20,541,508   18,520,182    -    -    
Institutional support 16,467,444   13,915,730    -    -    
Operation and maintenance of plant 23,952,581   20,420,301    -    -    
Scholarships 18,163,261   12,700,771    -    -    
Depreciation & Amortization 19,741,542   19,696,979    715,834   714,906   

 Auxiliary enterprises 12,985,556   12,209,468    773,438   957,480   

   Total Operating Expenses 187,143,477    166,003,331  1,489,272   1,672,386   

   Net Operating Loss (82,673,310)  (64,411,499)   (321,510)  (334,349)  

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):
State appropriations, net 89,565,045   78,474,052    208,059   201,928   
Federal grants 748,215   1,535,633   -    -    
State grants - 4,699,752 -    -    
Gifts 4,205,907   4,246,152 -    -    
Investment income (loss), net 10,765,020   7,296,501 661,271   668,277   
MSCBA funds received 770,999   1,117,990 -    -    
Gain early retirement of debt -   -   -    -    
Interest expense (7,297,634)  (7,610,794) (664,343)  (675,008)  
Other non-operating expense - (219,371) -    -    

Net Non-Operating Revenues 98,757,552   89,539,915    204,987   195,197   

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position Before Capital 
Grants 16,084,242   25,128,416    (116,523)  (139,152)  

 Capital grants 3,799,063   6,287,265   -    -    

   Total Increase (Decrease) in Net Position 19,883,305$        31,415,681$      (116,523)$   (139,152)$   

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Government Unit

Statements of Revenues and Expenses

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Primary Component 
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 Net Investment in 
Capital Assets 

 Restricted 
Nonexpendable 

 Restricted 
Expendable Unrestricted Total

Balance at June 30, 2022 105,487,917$    110,000$        11,499,800$ (65,912,135)$ 51,185,582$   

Changes in net position for 2023 (2,456,208)   - 1,943,333 31,928,556  31,415,681   

Balance at June 30, 2023 103,031,709    110,000     13,443,133   (33,983,579)   82,601,263    

Changes in net position for 2024 (5,420,816)   - (134,823) 25,438,944  19,883,305   

Balance, June 30, 2024 97,610,893$      110,000$        13,308,310$ (8,544,635)$   102,484,568$ 

 Net Investment in 
Capital Assets 

 Restricted 
Nonexpendable 

 Restricted 
Expendable Unrestricted Total

Balance at June 30, 2022 8,974,451$        -$     -$  1,113,240$    10,087,691$   

Changes in net position for 2023 (440,896)  469,988   29,092   

Balance at June 30, 2023 8,533,555    -  -    1,583,228    10,116,783    

Prior period adjustment -    -    (168,244)  (168,244)   

Balance at June 30, 2023, as restated 8,533,555    -  -    1,414,984    9,948,539  

Changes in net position for 2024 (473,488)  356,965   (116,523)   

Balance, June 30, 2024 8,060,067$        -$     -$  1,771,949$    9,832,016$     

Assistance Corporation

Statements of Changes in Net Position

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

University
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2024 2023
University University

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
 Tuition and fees 52,027,633$      55,689,643$      
 Grants and contracts 33,577,304      24,179,708     
  Payments to suppliers and vendors (36,999,433)     (31,980,403)    
  Payments to employees (92,497,618)     (87,765,954)    
  Payments for benefits (7,867,424)       (7,838,920)  
  Payments to students (18,163,261)     (12,700,771)    
  Loans issued to students (99,953)     (145,969)     
  Collection of loans to students 404,415       239,479  
 Auxiliary enterprises receipts 23,164,511  22,862,760     
  Sales and services of educational departments 537,950       461,016  
  Other 163,072       110,768  

 Net Cash Applied to Operating Activities (45,752,804)     (36,888,643)

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities:
 State appropriations 63,205,919  56,870,968     
 FEMA funds 2,283,848    397,784  
 State funds - 4,699,752 
 Tuition remitted to State (761,214)   (751,390) 
 Student interest received (paid) (263,026)   (7,977) 
 Gifts 3,860,579    4,406,957 

 Net Cash Provided by Non-Capital Financing Activities 68,326,106  65,616,094     

Cash Flows from Capital Financing Activities:
Purchases of capital assets (2,708,629)   (1,818,445)  
Principal paid on bonds payable, notes payable and lease liabilities (8,164,323)   (10,011,616)    
Interest paid on bonds payable, notes payable, and lease laibilities (7,317,442)   (7,761,047)  
 Debt service reserve releases 425,925    -   

 Net Cash Applied to Capital Financing Activities (17,764,469)     (19,591,108)    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Investment income 4,514,144    2,916,475   
Proceeds from sale of investments 14,193,557  10,972,341     
Purchase of investments (15,457,984)     (12,274,288)    

        Net Cash Provided by Capital Financing Activities 3,249,717    1,614,528   

Net Increase in Cash and Equivalents 8,058,550    10,750,871     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of the Year 54,030,500  43,279,629     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of the Year 62,089,050$      54,030,500$      

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Government

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
Primary
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2024 2023
Reconciliation of Net Operating Loss to Net Cash University University
  Applied to Operating Activities:
 Net operating loss (82,673,310)$     (64,411,499)$     

  Adjustments to reconcile net operating loss to net cash
   applied to operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 19,741,542    19,696,979    
Bad debts 87,798  (91,321)    
Fringe benefits provided by State 27,120,340    22,354,474    
Payments to suppliers and vendors provided by State 770,999   1,169,756   
Changes in assets and liabilities:
  Accounts receivable 433,015   1,203,499   
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 908,214   (240,461)  
  Accrued payroll and benefits 2,148,293   119,700   
 Other assets (26,069)    97,617  

  Loans to/from students 314,256   95,810  
  Deposits 14,340  (5,358)   
 Unearned revenues 3,627,668   682,744   

  Deferred inflows (18,219,693)   (20,909,575)   
  Deferred outflows 1,681,429   (466,342)  
 Net pension liability 1,163,564   5,164,367   
 Net OPEB liability (2,845,190)  (1,349,033)  

  Net Cash Applied to Operating Activities (45,752,804)$     (36,888,643)$     

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and 2024 2023
 equivalents are comprised of the following at June 30: University University

 Cash and cash equivalents 47,748,243$      39,212,279$      
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7,735,073   8,518,602   
 Deposits held by State Treasurer 2,195,298   2,967,502   
 Cash held by State Treasurer 3,573,856   2,754,865   
 Deposits held by MSCBA and DCAMM 837,180   577,252   

62,089,650$      54,030,500$      

2024 2023
University University

Acquisition of capital assets 8,305,790$        11,100,861$      
Accounts and notes payable beginning of year 550,574   172,963   
Accounts and notes payable end of year (998,284)  (550,574)  
SBITA acquisitions (1,350,388)  (2,617,540)  
Payments made by DCAMM and State (3,799,063)  (6,287,265)  
Cash payments for capital assets 2,708,629$        1,818,445$     

Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities 5,423,835$        4,151,544$     

Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 27,120,340$      22,354,474$      

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Primary
Government

Schedule of noncash investing and financing activities

Primary
Government

Primary

Government

Cash Flow Information

Statements of Cash Flows - Continued

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
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2023
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,702,063$        2,722,297$        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,200,236          411,137             
Certificates of deposit 779,987             500,000             
Pledges receivable, net 5,897,883          2,681,070          
Other current assets 158,703             76,486               

      Total Current Assets 11,738,872        6,390,990          

Non-Current Assets:
Investments securities 68,053,656        54,354,491        
Long-term pledges receivable, net 472,246             1,844,765          

      Total Non-Current Assets 68,525,902        56,199,256        

      Total Assets 80,264,774$      62,590,246$      

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 940,764$           578,628$           

Net Assets:
   Without donor restrictions:

  Operating 2,856,854          2,820,512          
  Board designated 1,065,083          228,943             

            Total net assets without donor restrictions 3,921,937          3,049,455          

   With donor restrictions 75,402,073        58,962,163        

      Total Net Assets 79,324,010        62,011,618        

      Total Liabilities and Net Assets 80,264,774$      62,590,246$      

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Liabilities and Net Position

2024

Salem State University Alumni Association and Foundation, Inc

June 30, 2024 and 2023

Assets

Statements of Financial Position of
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support:

  Contributions and gifts of cash and other financial assets 931,553$    13,101,227$    14,032,780$    
  Investment return appropriated for operations 1,522,883     - 1,522,883 
  Investment return - other 135,976   1,417,721    1,553,697
  Contributions and gifts of nonfinancial assets 54,553     5,735      60,288    
  Provision for losses on pledges receivable - 1,000,000 1,000,000     

2,644,965     15,524,683  18,169,648   
  Net assets released from restrictions:
     Satisfaction of donor restrictions 3,685,205     (3,685,205)   -    

     Total Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support 6,330,170     11,839,478  18,169,648   

Operating Expenses:
  Program services 4,916,442     - 4,916,442 
  Management services 363,025   - 363,025 
  Fundraising 128,221   - 128,221 

          Total Operating Expenses 5,407,688     - 5,407,688 

Changes in Net Assets from Operating Activities 922,482   11,839,478  12,761,960   

Non-Operating Avtivities:
   Investment return appropriated for operations - 6,073,315 6,073,315     
   Investment return, net - (1,522,883) (1,522,883)    

     Changes in Net Assets for Non-Operating Activities - 4,550,432 4,550,432     

     Transfers (50,000)    50,000    -      

     Total Increase in Net Assets 872,482   16,439,910  17,312,392   

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 3,049,455     58,962,163  62,011,618   

Net Assets, End of Year 3,921,937$      75,402,073$    79,324,010$    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Statements of Activities and Changes in Net Assets of
Salem State Unversity Alumni Association and Foundation, Inc

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support:
  Contributions and gifts of cash and other financial assets 1,116,860$      13,303,947$    14,420,807$    
  Investment return appropriated for operations 1,506,533   - 1,506,533 
  Investment return - other 77,763   1,231,580      1,309,343 
  Contributions and gifts of nonfinancial assets 52,352   54,074     106,426   
  Speaker series 135,186      - 135,186
  Provision for losses on pledges receivable - 1,000,000 1,000,000 

2,888,694   15,589,601    18,478,295    
  Net assets released from restrictions:
     Satisfaction of donor restrictions 4,910,043   (4,910,043)     -  

    Total Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support 7,798,737   10,679,558    18,478,295    

Operating Expenses:
  Program services 6,359,861   - 6,359,861 
  Management services 328,804      - 328,804
  Fundraising 933,268      - 933,268

    Total Operating Expenses 7,621,933   - 7,621,933 

Changes in Net Assets from Operating Activities 176,804      10,679,558    10,856,362    

Non-Operating Activities:
   Investment return appropriated for operations - (1,506,533) (1,506,533)     
   Investment return, net 7,026     3,413,366 3,420,392      

    Changes in Net Assets for Non-Operating Activities 7,026     1,906,833      1,913,859      

          Total Increase in Net Assets 183,830      12,586,391    12,770,221    

Net Assets, Beginning of Year 2,865,625   46,375,772    49,241,397    

Net Assets, End of Year 3,049,455$      58,962,163$    62,011,618$    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Statements of Activities and Changes in Net Assets of
Salem State Unversity Alumni Association and Foundation, Inc

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 
Salem State University (the “University”) is a public, State-supported, comprehensive four-
year university, located in Salem, Massachusetts, and governed by a local Board of Trustees 
under the direction of the Massachusetts Department of Higher Education. The University is 
empowered to award baccalaureate and master’s degrees in education, business and arts and 
sciences, as well as conduct programs of continuing education. The University is accredited 
by the New England Commission of Higher Education. 

COVID-19 
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the global outbreak of the novel 
coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic. The pandemic has had a significant impact on the 
University’s students, housing and other operations and its resources. 

The University has applied for FEMA grant funds for costs associated with COVID-19.  The 
University has submitted costs incurred during FY21 through FY24 totaling approximately 
$2,725,000. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 approximately $748,000 and 
$1,536,000, respectively, has been approved by FEMA and recognized as grant revenue by 
the University. 

The State appropriated $0 and 4.7 million in grant funds to the University during FY 2024 
and FY 2023, respectively, for the mitigation of the financial impacts of the coronavirus 
pandemic and maintenance projects, in accordance with section 2A of chapter 102 of the acts 
on 2021, an act relative to immediate COVID-19 recovery. Draf
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Notes to the Financial Statements – Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued 

Basis of Presentation and Accounting 
The University is an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “State” or the 
“Commonwealth”). The accompanying financial statements reflect only the transactions of 
the University and its discretely presented component units. Accordingly, the accompanying 
financial statements may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have 
existed if the University had been operated independently of the State. 

The following component unit is presented alongside the University and is summarized as 
follows: 

In 1995, Salem State University Assistance Corporation (the “Assistance Corporation”) 
was formed because of legislation established by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 
The Assistance Corporation was created to promote the orderly growth and development 
of the University and to assist the University in securing physical and financial resources 
necessary for the acquisition and development of a site formerly known as the GTE 
Sylvania plant. In June 2012, legislation was approved further defining the parameters 
of this “site” to include other such properties determined by the Assistance Corporation 
to fulfill its mission. The Assistance Corporation financial statements have been prepared 
using the economic resources measurement and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as prescribed 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). 

The Assistance Corporation owns and operates commercial lease properties at this site in 
Salem, Massachusetts and is legally separate from the University, and the University is not 
financially accountable for the Assistance Corporation. The Assistance Corporation has 
been included because of the nature and significance of its relationship with the University. 

The following component unit is presented separately within these financial statements and is 
summarized as follows: 

The Salem State University Alumni Association and Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) 
was formed in 1977 to render financial assistance and support to the educational 
programs and development of the University. The Foundation is legally separate from 
the University, and the University is not financially accountable for the Foundation. 
The Foundation has been included because of the nature and significance of its 
relationship with the University. Complete financial statements can be obtained from the 
Foundation’s administrative offices in Salem, Massachusetts. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued 

Salem State University Alumni Association and Foundation, as a nonprofit organization, 
reports under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) guidance on financial 
reporting for Not-for-Profit Entities. As such, certain revenue and lease recognition criteria 
and presentation features are different from GASB revenue and lease recognition criteria 
and presentation features. No modifications have been made to the Foundation’s financial 
information within their report. 

During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Foundation distributed scholarships in 
the amount of $1,253,994 and $980,709, respectively, directly to students of the University. 

Complete financial statements for the Foundation and the Assistance Corporation are also 
available from the Office of the Vice President for Finance and Business, Salem State 
University, 352 Lafayette Street, Salem, MA 01970. 

The University has determined that it functions as a business-type activity, as defined by 
the GASB. The basic financial statements and required supplementary information for 
general-purpose governments consist of management’s discussion and analysis, basic 
financial statements and required supplementary information. The University presents 
statements of net position, revenues and expenses, changes in net position and cash flows on 
a combined University wide basis. 

The University’s financial statements have been prepared using the “economic resources 
measurement focus” and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, as prescribed by GASB. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have been met. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Continued 

Basis of Presentation and Accounting – continued 
The University’s policy for defining operating activities in the statements of revenues 
and expenses are those that generally result from exchange transactions such as the 
payment received for services and payment made for the purchases of goods and 
services. Certain other transactions are reported as non-operating activities in accordance 
with GASB Statement No. 35. These non-operating activities include various amounts 
such as the University’s operating and capital appropriations from the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts, net investment activity, gifts, interest expense and other expenses and 
contributions. 

The accompanying statements of revenues and expenses demonstrate the degree to 
which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by programs revenues. Direct 
expenses are those that are charges to students or others who enroll or directly benefit 
from services that are provided by a particular function. If items do not meet the definition 
of program revenues, they are reported as general revenue.  

In accordance with the requirements of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the 
University’s operations are accounted for in several trust funds. All of those trust 
funds have been consolidated and are included in these financial statements. 

Net Position 
GASB Statement No. 34 requires that resources be classified for accounting purposes 
into the following three net position categories: 

Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
and outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this component of 
net position. 

Restricted: 

Nonexpendable – Component of net position whose net assets are subject to 
externally imposed stipulations or by law that they be maintained 
permanently by the University. Such assets include the University’s 
permanent endowment funds. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Net Position - continued 

Expendable - Component of net position whose use by the University is subject 
to externally imposed stipulations or by law that can be fulfilled by the actions 
of the University pursuant to those stipulations or that expire by the passage 
of time. 

Unrestricted: All other categories of net position. Unrestricted net assets may be designed 
for specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the 
University’s policy to use the restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as 
they are needed. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Deposits 
The University’s cash and cash equivalents are considered cash on hand, cash deposits 
held with the Commonwealth’s State Treasurer and Receiver-General, Massachusetts 
State College Building Authority (“MSCBA”) and the Division of Capital Asset 
Management and Maintenance (“DCAMM”), which are short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount the University expects to collect from 
outstanding balances. Provisions for losses on accounts receivable are determined on the 
basis of loss experience, known and inherent risks in the receivable portfolio, the estimated 
value of underlying collateral and current economic conditions. 

Pledges Receivable - Foundation 
Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected or paid within one year are 
recorded at net realizable value. Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be 
collected in future years are recorded at the present value of their estimated cash flows. The 
discounts on those amounts are computed using risk-adjusted interest rates applicable to 
the years in which the promises are received.  Amortization of the discounts is included in 
contribution revenue. Conditional promises to give are not included in support until the 
conditions are met.     

The Foundation provides an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to estimated pledge 
defaults. The estimated defaults are based on historical collection experience together with 
a review of the current status of the existing receivables.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Investments 
Investments held with the Commonwealth’s State Treasurer and Receiver-General in the 
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (“MMDT”) are reported at amortized cost. The 
MMDT is an investment pool for political subdivisions in the Commonwealth that was 
designed as a legal means to safely invest temporarily available cash. Its primary purpose is 
to provide a safe, liquid, high-yield investment vehicle offering participation in a 
diversified portfolio of high- q u a l i t y  money market instruments. The MMDT, an 
instrumentality of the State Treasurer, is not a bank, savings institution or financial 
institution, and is not subject to FDIC insurance. MMDT operates as a qualifying external 
investment pool and is valued by MMDT’s management on an amortized cost where the 
net asset value is $1 per share. 

Investments include marketable debt and equity securities which are carried at their 
readily determinable fair values. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are included in 
non-operating revenues. Gains and losses on the disposition of investments are determined 
based on specific identification of securities sold or the average cost method. Investment 
income is recognized when earned and is generally credited to the trust fund holding the 
related assets. 

Dividends, interest and net gains or losses on investments are reported in the Statement of 
Revenues and Expenses. Any net earnings not expended are included in net position 
categories as follows: 

i. as increases in restricted - nonexpendable net position if the terms of the gift
require that they be added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund;

ii. as increases in restricted - expendable net position if the terms of the gift or the
University’s interpretation of relevant state law impose restrictions on the current use
of income or net gains. The University has relied upon the Attorney General’s
interpretation of state law that unappropriated endowment gains should be
classified as restricted - expendable; and,

iii. as increases in unrestricted net position in all other cases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Investments - continued 
Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 15, grants authority to the University’s Board of 
Trustees to administer the general business of the University. Inherent in this is the 
authority to invest the funds of the University. Chapter 15 further grants the Trustees 
the authority to delegate to the President any said powers or responsibilities. The Board 
of Trustees of Salem State University has delegated the authority to make specific 
investment decisions to the President of the University and the Finance Committee of 
the Board of Trustees. The University’s investments consist of debt, marketable equity 
securities, mutual funds and other investments which are carried at their fair values. The 
primary cash equivalent funds are within the MMDT, the external investment pool for 
political subdivisions of the Commonwealth. 

The Foundation’s investments consist of debt, marketable equity securities, mutual 
funds and other investments which are carried at their fair value. Unrealized gains and 
losses are included in revenue. Restricted investment income and gains are reported as 
increases in unrestricted net position, unless a donor or law temporarily (expendable) 
or permanently (non-expendable) restricts their use. Gains and losses on the disposition 
of investments are principally determined based on the first-in, first-out method or 
specific identification of securities sold. Investment income is recognized when earned. 
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. 

Loans Receivable and Payable 
Loans receivable consist primarily of the Federal Perkins Loan Program (“Perkins”) 
and the Federal Nursing Student Loan Program (“NSL”). The Federal Government 
provides the majority of the funds to support these programs. Loan payments received 
from students made under the Perkins and NSL loan programs provided by the Federal 
Government is refundable to the Federal Government upon ending (liquidation) of the 
University’s participation in the programs. The amount due to the Federal Government 
upon liquidation is included as a noncurrent liability in the accompanying financial 
statements.  See Note 7 for changes in the Perkins Loan Program. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Loans Receivable and Payable- continued 
The prescribed practices for the Perkins and NSL programs do not provide for accrual 
of interest on student loans receivable or for the provision of an allowance for doubtful 
loans. Accordingly, interest on loans is recorded as received and loan balances are 
reduced subsequent to the determination of their uncollectability and have been accepted 
(assigned) by the Department of Education and the Department of Health and Human 
Services. Management closely monitors outstanding balances and assigns loans to the 
Department of Education based upon such factors as student payment history, current 
status of applicable students and the results of collection efforts. 

Capital Assets 
Capital assets are controlled but not owned by the University. The University is not 
able to sell or otherwise pledge its assets, since the assets are all owned by the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Capital assets, which include land, construction in 
process, buildings, building and land improvements and furniture and equipment, are 
reported in the statement of net position at cost or fair market value, if donated. Capital 
assets are defined by the University as assets with an initial individual cost of more 
than $50,000 for equipment and $100,000 for buildings and improvements in accordance 
with the Commonwealth’s capitalization policy. 

The University does not hold collections of historical treasures, works of art or other 
items not requiring capitalization or depreciation. The costs of normal maintenance and 
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives are not 
capitalized. Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight- 
line method over estimated useful lives which range from 3 to 40 years. 

Right of use assets are recorded in these financial statements in accordance with GASB 87 
and represent the University’s authority (right) to utilize a leased item over the duration of 
an agreed-upon lease term with another entity or vendor. The right to use assets, measured 
at the shorter of the estimated useful life, within these financials are for buildings with the 
MSCBA, equipment and space leased from the Assistance Corporation. 

The land on which the residence halls stand is leased by the MSCBA from the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts at an annual cost of one dollar. The residence halls 
have various lease terms and can be extended at the end of these terms for additional 
10-year periods each.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Capital Assets - continued 
Subscription based information technology arrangements are recorded in these financial 
statements in accordance with GASB 96 and represent the University’s authority (right) 
to utilize software over the duration of an agreed-upon arrangement term with another 
entity or vendor. The right to use assets are measured based on the term of the 
arrangement.  

The University, in accordance with a management and services agreement between the 
MSCBA and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, is charged a semi-annual revenue 
assessment which is based on a certified occupancy report, the current rent schedule 
and the design capacity for each of the residence halls. This revenue assessment is 
used by MSCBA to pay principal and interest due on its long-term debt obligations 
and operating costs. These obligations may include the costs of periodic renovations 
and improvements to the residence halls. The revenue assessment amounts are included 
in the residential life auxiliary enterprises in the accompanying statements of revenue 
and expenses. All facilities and obligations of the MSCBA are included in the financial 
statements of the MSCBA. The leases the University has with the MSCBA are recorded in 
the financial statements as right to use assets and lease liabilities under the requirements of 
GASB 87. 

The Assistance Corporation capitalizes property and equipment in excess of $1,000. 
Purchased property and equipment is capitalized at cost and depreciated using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets or term of the 
lease. 

Contributions - Foundation 

In-kind rent and services contributed are recorded as contributions in revenues and 
other support at their fair market values on the date of receipt. The related expenses or 
assets are also recorded depending on the form of benefits received.   

Deposits Held by Other State Agencies 
Funds held by the MSCBA and the DCAMM are primarily for ongoing construction 
projects and are from bond proceeds and University sources. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Pensions 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflow of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information 
about the fiduciary net position of the Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement 
System plan (“SERS”) and the additions to/deductions from SERS’ fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by SERS. For 
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 

Post- employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“OPEB”) 
Post-employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“OPEB”) For purposes of measuring the 
University's net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position 
of the State Retirees' Benefit Trust (“SRBT”) and additions to/deductions from SRBT’s 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
SRBT. For this purpose, SRBT recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value, except for money 
market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts that have a 
maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are reported at cost. 

Interest Costs 
During 2024 and 2023, total interest costs incurred were as follows: 

Tax Status 
The University is an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is therefore 
generally exempt from income taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

2024 2023

Interest expense on bonds & notes 470,542$    502,791$    
Equipment lease interest - GASB 87 5,598 10,386        
Building lease interest - GASB 87 484,436 495,054      
MSCBA lease interest - GASB 87 6,182,823 6,550,774   
Software lease interest - GASB 96 154,235 51,789        
Total 7,297,634$ 7,610,794$ 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions about future events. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Management evaluates the estimates and assumptions on an 
ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors that management believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Adjustments to estimates and assumptions are made 
as facts and circumstances require. As future events and their effects cannot be determined 
with certainty, actual results may differ from the estimates used in preparing the 
accompanying financial statements. Significant estimates and assumptions are required as 
part of estimating an allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation, net position 
classification, and determining the net pension and OPEB liabilities. 

Upcoming Governmental Accounting Pronouncements 

GASB Statement 101 – Compensated Absences is effective for reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2023. The objective of this statement is to update the recognition and 
measurement for compensated absences. 

GASB Statement 102 - Certain Risk Disclosures is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2024.  State and local governments face a variety of risks that could negatively 
affect the level of service they provide or their ability to meet obligations as they come due. 
Although governments are required to disclose information about their exposure to some 
of those risks, essential information about other risks that are prevalent among state and 
local governments is not routinely disclosed because it is not explicitly required. The 
objective of this Statement is to provide users of government financial statements with 
essential information about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain 
concentrations or constraints. 

GASB Statement 103 - Financial Reporting Model Improvements is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after June 15, 2025.  The objective of this statement is to improve key 
components of the financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing 
information that is essential for decision making and assessing a government’s 
accountability.    

Management has not completed its review of the requirements of these pronouncements 
and their applicability. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 
  
 Salem State University Assistance Corporation- Prior Period Adjustment 

The previously issued financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, were 
restated due to an accounting error of the calculation for lease income. This error had no 
effect on the net position as of June 30, 2022. The following statements wee affected by the 
restatement: 

 
  
Note 2 - Cash and Cash Equivalents and Deposits 

 
The carrying amounts of the University’s cash and cash equivalents and deposits, net of 
amounts in transit at June 30, 2024 and 2023 were $55,483,319 and $47,730,881 
respectively. This includes amounts held in deposit at the Massachusetts Municipal 
Depository Trust (“MMDT”) of $54,387,879 and $45,934,355 as of June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 
 

Custodial Credit Risk 
Custodial credit risk is the risk associated with the failure of a depository financial 
institution. The occurrence of such an event would limit the University’s recovery of funds 
deposited with the institution to those amounts covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“FDIC”) and other third-party insurance in effect at the time of the failure. 
The University’s goal is to mitigate as much custodial risk associated with its cash assets as 
possible. Deposits in the bank in excess of the insured amounts are uninsured and 
uncollateralized. 
 
The University places funds with the MMDT, which is an instrumentality of the Treasurer 
of the Commonwealth and therefore is not covered by FDIC insurance and its political 
sub-divisions. It is designed as a legal means to temporarily invest available cash in safe, 
liquid and high yield investment vehicles by offering participation in a diversified 
portfolio of high-quality money market instruments. 
 
 

Previously 
Reported Adjustment Restated

As of June 30, 2023:
Lease receivable 11,257,386$  352,226$       11,609,612$  
Deferred inflows 9,866,254      520,470         10,386,724    
Net position 10,116,783    (168,244)        9,948,539      

Year Ended June 30, 2023:
Leas income 1,370,366$    (168,244)$      1,202,122$    
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 2 - Cash and Cash Equivalents and Deposits – Continued 

Custodial Credit Risk- continued 
The University does not have a formal policy with respect to custodial credit risk. 
Custodial credit risk is that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the University 
will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. 

Amounts that may be exposed to custodial risk at June 30, 2024 and 2023 were 
$56,788,095 and $48,656,064, respectively, which are primarily maintained as part of 
the University’s investment portfolio. 

The University maintains a $100,000 target balance in its clearing account which is 
fully covered under FDIC limits. Any amounts greater than the target balance are 
transferred based on an overnight purchase agreement. The investments in these 
agreements are U.S. agency issued securities fully backed by the U.S. Government. 

Credit Risk 
The University is required to comply with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ deposit 
and investment policies which are principally defined in the Massachusetts General 
Laws, Chapter 29. State Statutes permit investment in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, 
authorized bonds of all states, bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit, commercial 
paper rated within the three highest classifications established by Standard & Poor’s 
Corporation and Moody’s Commercial Paper Record and repurchase agreements 
secured by any of these obligations. The University has also adopted its own formal 
investment policy, the objectives of which are: safety of principal; liquidity for operating 
needs; and return on investment. The University’s investment policy generally limits the 
maturities of investments to not more than seven years. The University may also appoint 
a professional fund manager and invest in equity and bond funds. Eligible investments 
shall be consistent with those permitted by State Statutes. 

As of June 30, 2024, and 2023, the fair values of the University’s deposits held at the 
MMDT were $54,387,876 and $45,934,355, respectively. At June 30, 2024, the 
approximate percentage of the University’s deposits held at the MMDT and the respective 
investment maturities in days were as follows: 72% at 30 days or less; 13% at 31-90 days; 
4% at 91-180 days and 11% at 181 days or more. At June 30, 2023, the approximate 
percentage of the University’s deposits held at the MMDT and the respective investment 
maturities in days were as follows: 78% at 30 days or less; 10% at 31-90 days; 8% at 91-
180 days and 4% at 181 days or more. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 3 - Cash and Deposits Held By State Treasurer 

Cash forwarded by the University to and held by the State Treasurer for payment of so-
called “non-appropriated” liabilities at June 30, 2024 and 2023 through Massachusetts 
Management Accounting Reporting System (“MMARS”) were recorded in the sums of 
$2,195,298 and $2,967,502, respectively. 

Liabilities to be funded by state appropriations at June 30, 2024 and 2023 were 
$3,573,256 and $2,754,865, respectively. 

Note 4 - Investments 

The University’s investments have been categorized based upon the fair value hierarchy 
in accordance with GASB 72 below. The Foundation follows similar guidance in 
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820-10 which 
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value of investment 
assets into three levels also. 

Level 1 - Observable market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the University can access at measurement date. 

Level 2 - Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are 
corroborated by market data. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by observable market data. 

Mutual funds and common stock are valued at daily closing prices as reported by the fund 
while common stocks and corporate bonds are valued either by using pricing models 
maximizing the use of observable inputs for similar securities or valued by the investment 
manager. The stock and mutual funds are classified as Level 1 are deemed to be actively 
traded. U.S. Government obligations are valued using quoted prices, documented trade 
history in the security and pricing models maximizing the use of observable inputs. 
Corporate bonds are valued as Level 2 based on the closing price reported in the active 
market in which the individual securities are traded. Certificates of deposit are valued at 
the initial investment cost plus accrued interest. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements – Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 4 - Investments – Continued 

University 
The University’s investments at fair value measurement are as follows at June 30, 
2024: 

The University’s investments at fair value measurement are as follows at June 30, 
2023: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Mutual funds:
 International equities 3,837,004$    -$   -$ 3,837,004$    
 U.S. equities 1,648,295   - -   1,648,295  
 Corporate bonds 17,257,361    - -   17,257,361 
 International emerging 965,669    -   -   965,669  
 Small and Mid Cap equities 1,266,265   -   -   1,266,265  
 Short-term fixed income - -   -   -  

Total mutual funds 24,974,594    - -   24,974,594 

Common stocks 26,319,745    - -   26,319,745 
Corporate bonds 6,461,142  - 6,461,142 
Total investment assets 51,294,339$  6,461,142$  -$ 57,755,481$  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Mutual funds:
   International equities 2,457,419$   -$ -$  2,457,419$   
   U.S. equities 2,420,908  - -  2,420,908 
   Corporate bonds 15,249,460   - -  15,249,460 
   International emerging 1,068,746  - -  1,068,746 
   Small and Mid Cap equities 1,134,397  - -  1,134,397 
Total mutual funds 22,330,930   - -  22,330,930 

Common stocks 22,610,122   - -  22,610,122 
Corporate bonds - 5,356,750 - 5,356,750 
Total investment assets 44,941,052$ 5,356,750$  -$  50,297,802$ 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 4 - Investments – Continued 

Foundation 
The Foundation’s investments at fair value measurement are as follows at June 30, 
2024: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Common stocks 31,554,263$    -$     -$  31,554,263$    
Corporate bonds - 13,399,635 - 13,399,635 
Mutual funds:
   Corporate bonds 342,804     -           -          342,804  
   International equities 1,307,929  -           -          1,307,929        
   Large cap equities 934,236     -           -          934,236  
   International emerging 1,233,540  -           -          1,233,540        
   Small and mid-cap equities 1,017,428  -           -          1,017,428        
   U.S. bonds and notes 2,457,641  -           -          2,457,641        
Total mutual funds 7,293,578  -           -          7,293,578        

Money market 9,004,026  -           -          9,004,026        
Exchange-traded funds 2,043,471  -           -          2,043,471        
U.S. Government Obligations 4,197,691  -           -          4,197,691        
State municipal bonds - 389,212 - 389,212 
Certificates of deposits - 896,573 - 896,573 
Variable rate bonds - 55,194 - 55,194 

Total assets at fair value 54,093,029$    14,740,614$  -$      68,833,643$    Draf
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 4 - Investments – Continued 

Foundation - continued 
The Foundation’s investments at fair value measurement are as follows at June 30, 
2023: 

University 
The University categorizes short-term investments according to the level of risk assumed 
by the University. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, investments totaled $57,755,481 and 
$50,297,802, respectively. These holdings represent investments that are insured, 
registered and held by the University’s investment agent in the University’s name. On 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no individual investments that represented 5% or 
more of the University’s portfolio. The University currently follows investment policies 
largely defined by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as well as internal policies 
approved by the University’s Board of Trustees.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Common stocks 27,235,000$    -$               -$  27,235,000$    
Corporate bonds - 10,422,537 - 10,422,537 
Mutual funds:
   Corporate bonds 450,077           - -      450,077       
   International equities 673,003           - -      673,003       
   Large cap equities 1,371,104        - -      1,371,104    
   International emerging 1,239,240        - -      1,239,240    
   Small and mid-cap equities 950,940           - -      950,940       
   U.S. bonds and notes 1,893,773        - -      1,893,773    
Total mutual funds 6,578,137        - -      6,578,137    

Money market 3,839,980        - -      3,839,980    
Exchange-traded funds 1,714,985        - -      1,714,985    
U.S. Government Obligations 4,000,666        - -      4,000,666    
State municipal bonds - 391,638 - 391,638 
Certificates of deposits - 616,586 - 616,586 
Variable rate bonds - 54,962 - 54,962 

Total assets at fair value 43,368,768$    11,485,723$  -$          54,854,491$    Draf
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 4 - Investments - Continued 

University - continued 
Investments of the University are exposed to interest rate and market risk. They are 
stated at fair market value and consist of the following: 

The following table summarizes the quality ratings of the University’s debt investments at 
June 30, 2024: 

The following table summarizes the quality ratings of the University’s debt investments at 
June 30, 2023: 

Investment Type: Fair Value Less than 1 1-5 6-10

Corporate bonds (mutal funds) 6,461,142$   122,992$ 3,677,227$ 2,660,923$ 
Total fixed income 6,461,142 122,992$ 3,677,227$ 2,660,923$ 

Corporate bonds 17,257,361   
Equity securities 34,036,978   
Total investments 57,755,481$ 

June 30, 2024 Investment Maturity in Years

Investment Type: Fair Value Less than 1 1-5 6-10

Corporate bonds (mutal funds) 5,356,750$   569,741$ 3,343,617$ 1,443,392$ 
Total fixed income 5,356,750 569,741$ 3,343,617$ 1,443,392$ 

Corporate bonds  15,249,460   
Equity securities 29,691,592
Total investments 50,297,802$ 

June 30, 2023 Investment Maturity in Years

Fair Value Baa1 Baa2 A1 A2 A3 Not Rated
Corporate bonds 6,461,142$    2,270,332$ 1,978,795$ 142,505$ 641,609$ 1,239,698$ 188,203$      

Quality Ratings

Fair Value Baa1 Baa2 A1 A2 A3 Not Rated
Corporate bonds 5,356,750$  2,073,537$ 1,578,618$ 337,226$ 439,791$ 927,578$ -$   

Quality Ratings
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 4 - Investments - Continued 

Investment Income, net 
The following schedule summarizes the investment income in the statements of revenues 
and expenses for the University and the Foundation for the years ended June 30: 

Note 5 - Accounts, Grants and Other Receivables 

The accounts, grants and other receivables balances were comprised of the following at 
June 30: 

University University Foundation Foundation
2024 2023 2024 2023

Interest and dividends 4,819,724$   3,162,010$  1,560,945$   1,309,343$  
Net realized and
      unrealized gain 6,193,252 4,356,123 6,373,373 3,669,241
Investment fees (247,956) (221,632) (307,306) (248,849)

Total investment income 10,765,020$ 7,296,501$  7,627,012$   4,729,735$  

2024 2023

Student accounts 7,551,393$    8,485,685$    
Grants 1,028,053 2,738,668
Other 1,403,127 827,877
Total gross receivables 9,982,573 12,052,230
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (4,674,932) (5,063,673)
Total accounts, grants and other  receivables, net 5,307,641$    6,988,557$    
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 6 - Pledges Receivable 

Pledges Receivable - Foundation 
Pledges receivable for the Foundation consisted of the following as of June 30 and are 
expected to be realized as follows: 

Note 7 - Loans Receivable and Payable 

Loans receivable and payable consist primarily of the Federal Perkins Loan Program 
(“Perkins”) and the Federal Nursing Loan Program (“NSL”). The Federal Government 
originally provided the majority of the funds to support these programs. The portion of 
the Perkins and NSL Programs provided by the Federal Government is refundable to the 
Federal Government upon the ending (“liquidation”) of the University’s participation in 
the programs. 

The Federal Perkins Loan Program Extension Act of 2015 (the “Extension Act”), enacted 
on December 18, 2015, extended the Perkins Loan Program through September 30, 2017. 
The Extension Act states that new Perkins Loans cannot be disbursed to students after 
September 30, 2017. No further extensions were granted for the program as of the date of 
issuance of these financial statements.  

2024 2023

Receivable in less than one year 5,897,883$    3,685,270$    
Between one to five years 616,632 2,021,616
Receivable after five years 20,000 30,000           
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (120,000) (1,120,000)
Total pledges receivables 6,414,515 4,616,886
Less: discount to net present value at 4.0% (44,386) (91,051)
Pledges receivable, net 6,370,129 4,525,835
Less: current portion of receivable (5,897,883) (2,681,070)
Long-term pledges receivable, net 472,246$       1,844,765$    
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 7 - Loans Receivable and Payable - Continued 
 
Loans receivable from students include the following at June 30: 
 

   
 

 
 
As of June 30, amounts that are expected to be repaid to the Federal Government by the 
University upon ending of the University’s participation in the program (liquidation), are as 
follows:  
 

   
 

 
 

  

2024 2023

Perkins 152,110$          495,814$          
Nursing 434,960 405,511
Total loans receivable 587,070 901,325
Less: amount due in one year (155,390) (275,439)
Long-term loan receivables 431,680$          625,886$          

2024 2023

Perkins 573,092$          862,652$          
Nursing 667,739 668,626
Total loans payable 1,240,831$       1,531,278$       Draf
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 8 - Capital Assets 

University 
Capital asset activity for the University for the year ended June 30, 2024 is as follows: 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Disposals

Transfer to 
Capital Assets Ending Balance

Capital assets not depreciated or amortized:
   Land 2,536,173$     -$    -$  -$  2,536,173$       
   Construction in process 6,668,028   6,955,401   - (11,075,041) 2,548,388

Total capital assets not depreciated or 
amortized 9,204,201 6,955,401 - (11,075,041) 5,084,561

Capital assets depreciated or amortized:
   Buildings 90,030,416 -    -  -    90,030,416

 Buildings and land improvements 166,805,186 - (153,143) 9,835,348 176,487,391
 Furniture and equipment 22,036,036 - (253,675) 1,239,693    23,022,054

   Leased buildings - MSCBA 204,343,570 - -    204,343,570
   Leased space - SSUAC 14,657,474 - - -    14,657,474
   Leased equipment 596,060 - - -    596,060
   Intangible Right-to-Use Software agreements 5,546,063 1,350,388    -  -    6,896,451

Total capital assets depreciated and amortized 504,014,805 1,350,388    (406,818)  11,075,041 516,033,416

Total capital assets 513,219,006 8,305,789 (406,818) - 521,117,977

Less:  accumulated depreciation and amortization:
   Buildings 38,300,356 1,928,976 -  -    40,229,332
   Building improvements 77,580,476 6,998,062 (153,143)  - 84,425,395

 Furniture and equipment 20,770,660 441,671 (253,675)  - 20,958,656
   Leased buildings - MSCBA 24,051,594 7,980,311 -  -    32,031,905
   Leased space - SSUAC 2,647,996 809,102 -  -    3,457,098
   Leased equipment 376,458 125,486 -  -    501,944
   Intangible Right-to-Use Software agreements 2,412,257 1,457,934    -  -    3,870,191

Total accumulated depreciation 166,139,797 19,741,542 (406,818) - 185,474,521

Capital assets, net 347,079,209$   (11,435,753)$   -$  -$  335,643,456$   
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 8 - Capital Assets – Continued 

University - continued 
Capital asset activity for the University for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows: 

Beginning Transfer to Ending
Balance Additions Disposals Capital Assets Balance

Capital assets not depreciated or amortized:
   Land 2,536,173$      -$            -$ -$  2,536,173$      
   Construction in process 2,863,371     8,483,321     - (4,678,664) 6,668,028

Total capital assets not depreciated or 
amortized 5,399,544 8,483,321 - (4,678,664) 9,204,201

Capital assets depreciated and amortized:
   Buildings 90,129,935 - (99,519)  - 90,030,416
   Buildings and land improvements 164,121,656 - (1,806,720) 4,490,250        166,805,186
   Furniture and equipment 32,547,137 199,020        (10,898,535) 188,414   22,036,036
   Leased buildings - MSCBA 204,343,570 -          -  -      204,343,570
   Leased space - SSUAC 14,497,166 160,308        -  -      14,657,474
   Leased equipment 596,060 -          -  -      596,060
   Intangible Right-to-Use Software agreements 2,928,523 2,617,540     -  -      5,546,063

Total capital assets depreciated and amortized 509,164,047 2,976,868 (12,804,774) 4,678,664 504,014,805

Total capital assets 514,563,591 11,460,189 (12,804,774) - 513,219,006  

Less:  accumulated depreciation and 
amortization:

   Buildings 36,470,901 1,928,974 (99,519) - 38,300,356
   Building improvements 72,259,695 6,908,130 (1,587,349) - 77,580,476
   Furniture and equipment 31,081,530 587,665 (10,898,535) - 20,770,660
   Leased buildings - MSCBA 16,071,729 7,979,865 -  -      24,051,594
   Leased space - SSUAC 1,765,330 882,666 -  -      2,647,996
   Leased equipment 250,972 125,486 -  -      376,458
   Intangible Right-to-Use Software agreements 1,128,064 1,284,193 -  -      2,412,257

Total accumulated depreciation and 
amortization 159,028,221 19,696,979 (12,585,403) - 166,139,797

Capital assets, net 355,535,370$  (8,236,790)$     (219,371)$          -$       347,079,209$  
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 8 - Capital Assets - Continued 

Assistance Corporation  
Capital asset activity of the Assistance Corporation for the year ended June 30, 2024 was 
as follows: 

Beginning     
Balance Additions 

Ending       
Balance

Capital assets at historical cost:
     Land 8,023,132$   -$ 8,023,132$   
     Buildings 1,508,859 - 1,508,859
     Building improvements 4,535,521 26,083       4,561,604
     Furniture and equipment 218,305 - 218,305
     Leased equipment 11,111 - 11,111
     Leased building 11,321,248 - 11,321,248
Total capital assets at historical cost 25,618,176 26,083 25,644,259

Less accumulated depreciation:
     Buildings 783,111 37,721       820,832
     Building improvements 2,537,740 138,147     2,675,887
     Furniture and equipment 203,779 3,498         207,277
     Leased equipment 3,086 3,704         6,790
     Leased building 1,598,292 532,764     2,131,056
Total accumulated depreciation 5,126,008 715,834 5,841,842

Capital assets, net 20,492,168$ (689,751)$    19,802,417$ 
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 8 - Capital Assets - Continued 

Assistance Corporation – continued 

Capital asset activity of the Assistance Corporation for the year ended June 30, 2023 was 
as follows:  

Beginning      
Balance Additions 

Ending        
Balance

Capital assets at historical cost:
     Land 8,023,132$         -$             8,023,132$         
     Buildings 1,508,859 - 1,508,859
     Building improvements 4,451,317 84,204     4,535,521
     Furniture and equipment 213,700 4,605       218,305
     Leased equipment - 11,111 11,111
     Leased building 11,321,248 - 11,321,248
Total capital assets at historical cost 25,518,256 99,920 25,618,176

Less accumulated depreciation:
     Buildings 745,378 37,733     783,111
     Building improvements 2,400,415 137,325   2,537,740
     Furniture and equipment 199,781 3,998       203,779
     Leased equipment - 3,086 3,086
     Leased building 1,065,528 532,764 1,598,292
Total accumulated depreciation 4,411,102 714,906 5,126,008

Capital assets, net 21,107,154$       (614,986)$         20,492,168$       
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 9 - Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses include the following at June 30, 2024 and 2023: 

Note 10 - Unearned Revenues 

Unearned revenues include tuition received in advance from students for courses 
commencing after June 30 primarily for the following fiscal year’s summer and fall 
semesters revenue and grant funds received in advance. Unearned revenues of the 
University include the following at June 30: 

2024 2023

Accounts payable - trade 4,633,713$    3,875,553$    
Accrued interest payable 1,546,281 1,318,364
Tuition due to state 140,026 185,841
State grant refundable 831,845 - 
Other 922,133 1,110,398
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,073,998$    6,490,156$    

2023 2023

Tuition and fees 2,109,104$ 2,055,541$ 
Grants 7,242,291 3,578,891
Other 38,889 57,074        
Total unearned revenue 9,390,284$ 5,691,506$ 
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 11 - Long-Term Liabilities 

Long-term liabilities of the University at June 30, 2024 consist of:  

Long-term liabilities of the University at June 30, 2023 consist of:  

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion

Bond, loans and note payable:
    Bonds payable 28,058,270$   -$   3,661,854$   24,396,416$     2,578,052$   
    Bond premiums 76,145    330,819  81,748 325,216 13,447
    Loans payable 1,531,278  - 290,447 1,240,831 -    
    Note payable 357,694  - 201,927 155,767 102,677
Total bonds, loans and note payable 30,023,387 330,819  4,235,976 26,118,230 2,694,176

Other long-term liabilities:
    Lease liability 209,404,350 13,080,630 196,323,720 4,533,758
    SBITA liability 3,056,714 1,350,388   1,534,811 2,872,291 1,522,366
    Accrued compensated absences 10,774,591 983,050  - 11,757,641 7,013,706
    Workers' compensation 2,068,229 -    -   2,068,229 249,306
    Net pension liability 20,946,990 1,163,564   - 22,110,554 -    
    Net OPEB liability 26,361,589 - 2,845,190 23,516,399 -    
Total other long-term liabilities 272,612,463 3,497,002 17,460,631 258,648,834 13,319,136

Total long-term liabilities 302,635,850$ 3,827,821$ 21,696,607$ 284,767,064$   16,013,312$ 

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion

Bond, loans and note payable:
    Bonds payable 30,571,547$   -$    2,513,277$   28,058,270$      2,612,758$   
    Bond premiums 144,537   - 68,392 76,145 47,324
    Loans payable 1,549,594      - 18,316 1,531,278 -   
    Note payable 475,194   199,020      316,520 357,694 201,927

Total bonds, loans and note payable 32,740,872 199,020 2,916,505 30,023,387 2,862,009

Other long-term liabilities:
    Lease liability 215,029,785   160,308      5,785,743 209,404,350 5,242,326
    SBITA liability 1,751,487      2,617,540   1,312,313 3,056,714 1,248,244
    Accrued compensated absences 10,974,288    - 199,698 10,774,591 6,309,857
    Workers' compensation 2,068,229      - - 2,068,229 249,306
    Net pension liability 15,782,623    5,164,367   - 20,946,990 -   
    Net OPEB liability 27,710,622    - 1,349,033 26,361,589 -   

Total other long-term liabilities 273,317,034 7,942,215 8,646,787 272,612,463 13,049,733

Total long-term liabilities 306,057,906$ 8,141,235$ 11,563,292$ 302,635,850$    15,911,742$ 
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 MSCBA Bonds Payable University  
On January 24, 2024, Revenue Bond Series 2014A, 2014B, and 2014C, initially issued by 
the MSCBA for the benefit of capital projects at the University, were partially refunded as 
part of the MSCBA’s Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2024A.  The purpose of the 
issuance was to provide budgetary savings to the University.  The refunding resulted in an 
economic gain of approximately $7.4 million and a deferred gain of approximately $760 
thousand. The first principal payment is due on May 1, 2024, and the final payment is due 
on May 1, 2049, with an interest rate that ranges from 2.25% to 3.05%. Total principal 
related to 2024A partial refunding was $20,755,924. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023 the 
outstanding amounts related to all MSCBA bond series was $21,081,141 and $24,069,531 
and is included in the project related bond payable amounts described below. 

O’Keefe Athletic Complex Fields: 
During fiscal year 2005, the University entered into an agreement with the 
MSCBA to initiate a construction project to upgrade the University’s athletic 
field at the O’Keefe Athletic Complex. The scope of the services provided 
by MSCBA included planning and design as well as project management 
and construction. The project was completed during fiscal year 2006. The 
source of financing for the project is based on the issuance of Project Revenue 
Bonds issued by MSCBA on behalf of the University (Series 2005A, 2012B, 
2019C, 2020A). Through its agreement with MSCBA, the University has an 
agreement to re-pay this debt in semi-annual installments, which started June 
30, 2005 and ends May 2049 at an annual variable coupon rate averaging 
approximately 2.44%. The outstanding balance of this obligation including 
unamortized bond premium was $509,533 and $512,676 at June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 
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MSCBA Bonds Payable University - continued 

Central Campus Athletic Field and Tennis Court: 
During fiscal year 2006, the MSCBA issued Project 2006A bonds to support 
a project for the construction of a multi-purpose athletic field and tennis 
courts on the Central Campus of the University. The source of financing for 
the project is based on the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds issued by 
MSCBA on behalf of the University (Series 2006A, 2012B, 2019C, 2020A). 
The University has an agreement with the MSCBA to re-pay this debt in 
semi-annual installments, which started May 1, 2006 and ends May 1, 2049, 
at an annual coupon rate of approximately 2.25%. The outstanding balance 
of this obligation including unamortized bond premium was $223,788 and 
$826,172 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Harold E. and Marilyn J. Gassett Fitness & Recreation Center at the O’Keefe 
Athletic Complex: 
In January of 2012, the University was allotted $16,028,603 for the construction 
of a Fitness Center as part of the O’Keefe Athletic Complex. The source of 
financing for the project is based on the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds 
issued by MSCBA on behalf of the University (Series 2012A, 2019C, 2020A). 
At the issuance of this debt, the University’s portion of this issue consisted of 
principal of $14,230,000 with a premium of $1,798,603. The term of this debt 
extends to May 1, 2049, and has an annual coupon rate of approximately 3.02%. 
The outstanding balance of this obligation including unamortized bond premium 
was $9,920,924 and $10,706,346 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. A debt 
service reserve remains for these bonds in the amount of $86,688 and $240,545 at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.   
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MSCBA Bonds Payable University - continued 

Sophia Gordon Center for Creative and Performing Arts Theatre and Other 
Projects:  
During January 2014,  the  MSCBA  issued  2014  project  bonds  on  behalf  of 
the University. These bond proceeds along with other University funds are being 
used to fund the construction of various projects on campus. These projects include 
the creation of the Student Navigation Center, comprehensive renovations to the 
Sophia Gordon Center for Creative and Performing Arts Theatre, relocation of the 
Public Safety station and the development and creation of a parking lot on 
Assistance Corporation owned land. These bonds consist of principal in the amount 
of $19,030,000, issued at a premium of $2,243,187. The average annual coupon 
rate is approximately 2.91% over the life of the issue, and the term of this debt 
extends to June 30, 2033. The outstanding balance of this obligation including 
unamortized bond premium was $8,789,717 and $10,219,758 at June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. A debt service reserve remains for the 2014 bonds in the amount 
of $644,687 and $894,488 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.   

Land Acquisition Bond: 
In 2014 the MSCBA held bond proceeds for the University to use for future land 
acquisitions. These bond proceeds were used for land acquisitions on behalf of 
the Assistance Corporation during the 2016 fiscal year. The source of financing 
for the project is based on the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds issued by 
MSCBA on behalf of the University (Series 2005A and 2020A).This bond 
amount consists of principal in the amount of $1,090,000, issued at a premium 
of $53,758. The average annual coupon rate is approximately 3.05% over the 
life of the issue, and the term of this debt extends to June 30, 2048. The 
outstanding balance of this obligation including unamortized bond premium was 
$1,463,456 and $1,498,685 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
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MSCBA Bonds Payable University - continued 

Property Acquisition - Garage Bond:  
MSCBA held excess bond proceeds on behalf of the University for future 
real estate Acquisitions. These bond proceeds were used for property 
acquisitions on behalf of the Assistance Corporation during June 2017.  This 
bond amount consists of principal in the amount of $173,723 and $305,894 as 
of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. There was a reduction of this bond by 
MSCBA during 2018.  The average annual coupon rate is approximately 2.49% 
over the life of the issue, and the term of this debt extends to June 30, 2044.  A 
debt service reserve remains for these excess bond proceeds in the amount of 
$18,775 and $41,042 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.   

Other Bonds Payable University 

In September 2010, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts issued Clean 
Renewable Energy Bonds (“CREBS”) at 3.5%.  From this bond issue, the 
University received $289,995 for the purpose of acquiring and installing solar 
panels on the O’Keefe Center. The University makes semi-annual payments 
of interest and principal.  The bond holder is Century Bank. The term of the 
bond extends to May 2027. The outstanding balance of the obligation was 
$51,176 and $68,234 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Draf
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Other Bonds Payable University - continued 

Clean Energy Investment Program: 
During July 2013, the University entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ DCAMM to undertake a Comprehensive 
Energy Performance Contracting Project – Phase 1 (the project). In addition, 
during February 2014, the University entered into a second Memorandum of 
Agreement with DCAMM related to the same project but known as Phase 2. The 
project’s goal is to upgrade the University campus wide lighting and lighting 
controls, water conservation and vending machine controls, motors, steam traps, 
pipe insulation, kitchen hood controls, energy management system upgrades, high 
efficiency gas boilers and HVAC modifications. 

During March 2016, the University entered into a Memorandum of Agreement 
with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ DCAMM to undertake a 
Comprehensive Energy Performance Contracting Project - Phase 3 (the project). 
The project’s goal is a comprehensive energy and water saving performance 
contract which includes ice rink renovations, lighting upgrades, EMS and HVAC 
upgrades. 

The total project cost for Phase 1 is $1,694,560 and is to be repaid over 15 years 
at 4.0% interest per annum. Annual payments of principal and interest for Phase 
1 in the amount of $152,411 commenced in January 2015. The total project cost 
for Phase 2 is $2,291,402 and is to be repaid over 15 years at 3.75% interest per 
annum. Annual payments of principal and interest for Phase 2 in the amount of 
$202,505 commenced in January 2015. The total project cost for the University 
for Phase 3 is $2,801,950 and will be repaid over 20 years at 3.0% interest per 
annum commenced on January 1, 2018. The annual payments of principal and 
interest for Phase 3 amount to $188,335 per annum. The outstanding balance of 
the obligations for Phase 1, 2 and 3 was $3,589,315 and $3,996,650 at June 30, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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Bond Payable Maturities University 
Maturities of the bonds payable subsequent to June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

Notes Payable University 
During April of 2019, a note payable was acquired for $310,270 to purchase various 
computer and network equipment. The note payable is for four years, requires annual 
payments of $79,380 which includes principal and interest, has an average interest rate of 
1.5% and was paid through April of 2023. 

During July of 2019, a note payable was acquired for $325,010 to purchase computer 
equipment. The note payable is for five years, requires annual payments of $73,540 which 
includes principal and interest, has an average interest rate of 6.6% and was payable through 
June of 2024. 

During December of 2019, a note payable was acquired for $233,200 to purchase emergency 
communication system equipment. The note payable is for five years, requires annual 
payments of $51,649 which includes principal and interest, has an average interest rate of 
3.5% and is payable through December of 2024. 

Years Ending Amortization 
June 30, Principal of Premium Interest Total

2025 2,578,052$   13,447$   737,591$       3,329,090$   
2026 1,329,952 13,447 654,955 1,998,353
2027 1,107,985 13,447 609,209 1,730,641
2028 2,628,307 13,447 573,760 3,215,514
2029 2,512,610 13,447 500,427 3,026,484

2030-2034 4,827,374 67,235 1,883,273 6,777,882
2035-2039 4,681,032 67,235 958,175 5,706,442
2040-2044 3,676,055 67,047 611,816 4,354,918
2045-2049 1,055,049 56,464 117,724 1,229,237

Total 24,396,416$    325,216$    6,646,930$    31,368,562$    
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Notes Payable University - continued 

During January of 2021, a note payable was acquired for $81,950 to purchase various 
computer equipment. The note payable is for four years, requires annual payments of 
$22,014 which includes principal and interest, has an average interest rate of 7.4% and is 
payable through December of 2024.   

During March of 2023, a note payable was acquired for $199,019 to purchase assorted fitness 
equipment. The note payable is for three years, requires monthly payments of $6,045 which 
includes principal and interest, has an average interest rate of 0.5% and is payable through 
March of 2026.   

Maturities of the notes payable subsequent to June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

Years Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 102,677$    6,689$           109,366$         
2026 53,090 1,311 54,401
Total 155,767$    8,000$           163,767$         Draf
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Lease Liability University 
The University is a lessee of multiple long-term leases for buildings and improvements 
with MSCBA and equipment with vendors and space leased from the Assistance 
Corporation.   

Significant lease terms are described below for fiscal year 2024: 

Description Maturity Date
Payment 
Amount Rate Type

Interest 
Rate

 Lease 
Liability 
6/30/24 

MSCBA - Atlantic Hall 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 3.55% 34,646,004
MSCBA - Marsh Hall 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 3.13% 50,918,894
MSCBA - Marsh Dining Commons 10/30/2040 Varies Implicit Rate 3.04% 4,190,003
MSCBA - Viking Hall 10/30/2048 Varies Implicit Rate 3.11% 57,724,285
MSCBA - Viking Hall (Starbucks) 10/30/2046 Varies Implicit Rate 3.13% 4,560,867
MSCBA - Peabody/Bowditch Hall 10/30/2039 Varies Implicit Rate 3.53% 6,509,050
MSCBA - Parking Lot (Canal St.) 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 2.71% 36,839
MSCBA - Parking Garage 10/30/2041 Varies Implicit Rate 3.05% 22,346,954
MSCBA - 03A - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 4.31% 24,861
MSCBA - 04A - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 3.99% 55,815
MSCBA - 05A - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 3.12% 672,100
MSCBA - 10B - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 4.97% 264,097
MSCBA - 99A Pooled Debt Service 6/30/2028 Varies Implicit Rate 30.70% 1,650,859
287 Lafayette 6/30/2040 Varies IBR 3.75% 5,361,115
331 Lafayette 10/30/2042 Varies IBR 3.75% 7,261,638
Ricoh Copiers 3/31/2025 Varies IBR 3.75% 100,339

$196,323,720Draf
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Lease Liability University - continued 

Significant lease terms are described below for fiscal year 2023: 

MSCBA 
The lease term is completed when the final bond payment is made. The lease liability was 
calculated based upon the discounting of the future bond service payments using the 
average interest rate of the bond issuance associated with that lease. If MSCBA refunds 
the bonds, any cost savings are passed on to the University. Leases expire at various times, 
as noted at in the above charts. 

Payments to MSCBA are due in semi-annual installments that occur during the fall and 
spring academic semesters. For the year ended June 30, 2024, debt service payments and 
operating costs paid by the University was $8,039,456 and $1,928,430, respectively. For 
the year ended June 30, 2023, debt service payments and operating costs paid by the 
University was $10,589,355 and $1,672,706, respectively. 

Description Maturity Date
Payment 
Amount Rate Type

Interest 
Rate

Lease Liability 
6/30/23

MSCBA - Atlantic Hall 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 3.20% 38,556,359$    
MSCBA - Marsh Hall 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 2.85% 53,998,160     
MSCBA - Marsh Dining Commons 10/30/2030 Varies Implicit Rate 2.02% 4,438,134       
MSCBA - Viking Hall 10/30/2048 Varies Implicit Rate 2.93% 60,151,354     
MSCBA - Viking Hall (Starbucks) 10/30/2046 Varies Implicit Rate 3.01% 4,683,677       
MSCBA - Peabody/Bowditch Hall 10/30/2039 Varies Implicit Rate 3.57% 6,794,434       
MSCBA - Parking Lot (Canal St.) 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 4.02% 33,712      
MSCBA - Parking Garage 10/30/2041 Varies Implicit Rate 2.75% 24,538,380     
MSCBA - 03A - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 4.31% 24,861      
MSCBA - 04A - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 3.99% 55,815      
MSCBA - 05A - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 2.40% 694,908    
MSCBA - 10B - Renewal 10/30/2049 Varies Implicit Rate 4.97% 297,485    
MSCBA - 99A Pooled Debt Service 6/30/2028 Varies Implicit Rate 30.70% 1,796,291       
287 Lafayette 6/30/2040 Varies IBR 3.75% 5,525,213       
331 Lafayette 10/30/2042 Varies IBR 3.75% 7,425,430       
Enterprise Center Suite 100 6/30/2024 Varies IBR 7.25% 160,308    
Ricoh Copiers 3/31/2025 Varies IBR 3.75% 229,829    

209,404,350$  Draf
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Lease Liability University - continued 

 Interest Expense and Net Remaining Right of Use Assets 
Lease interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $6,943,435 and 
$7,056,213, respectively.  The amortization of the right of use assets are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term for each lease.  The remaining unamortized right of 
use asset related to lease obligations was $172,311,665 and $192,521,056 at June 30, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. 

Related Party Leases 
The University leases property located at 287-291 Lafayette Street from the Assistance 
Corporation, beginning in August 2014. These terms stipulate 240 monthly payments 
varying between approximately $28,000 and $42,000. There were no other payments made 
other than the monthly payments for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. The right of 
use asset was amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The remaining 
unamortized right of use asset related to these lease obligations were $4,760,018 and 
$5,057,519 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  

The University leases property located at 331 Lafayette Street from the Assistance 
Corporation, beginning in October 2017. These terms stipulate 268 monthly payments 
varying between approximately $34,000 and $58,000. The right of use asset was amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The remaining unamortized right of use asset 
related to these lease obligations were $6,440,359 and $6,791,651 at June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively.  

The University leases various suites at the Enterprise Center from the Assistance 
Corporation. The terms of these agreements stipulate monthly payments varying between 
approximately $6,500 and $13,800.  The right of use asset was amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The remaining unamortized right of use asset related to these 
lease obligations were $0 at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 

During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 the University made payments of principal 
and interest totaling $973,660 and $1,037,221, respectively, to the Assistance Corporation 
for the above disclosed related party leases.   

For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the total right of use assets were $219,597,104 
and $219,597,104, respectively. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the 
accumulated amortization related to the right of use assets was $35,990,947 and 
$27,076,048, respectively.  
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Future Lease Payments 

Lease payments due subsequent to June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

SBITA Liability University 
The University has entered into subscription-based information technology arrangements 
(SBITAs) for various software products which were initiated in fiscal years ended ranging 
from June 30, 2021 to 2024. There were no payments made for additional services not 
included in the annual SBITA payments. The University has no options to renew these 
agreements and there is no option to purchase the software products. 

Years Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 4,533,758$      7,039,343$    11,573,101$    
2026 6,012,844 6,708,859 12,721,703
2027 6,506,260 6,403,854 12,910,114
2028 5,763,587 6,097,341 11,860,928
2029 6,264,109 5,640,332 11,904,441

2030-2034 44,568,761 24,266,899 68,835,660
2035-2039 52,107,136 16,568,417 68,675,553
2040-2044 42,434,395 8,189,054 50,623,449
2045-2049 28,132,870 2,507,007 30,639,877

196,323,720$  83,421,106$  279,744,826$  
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SBITA Liability University - continued 

Significant arrangement terms are described below for fiscal year 2024: 

Significant arrangement terms are described below for fiscal year 2023: 

Lease interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $154,235 and 
$51,789, respectively.  For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the total right to use 
software arrangement assets were $6,896,451 and $5,546,063, respectively. For the years 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the accumulated amortization related to the right of use 
assets was $3,870,191 and $2,412,257, respectively.  

Description Maturity Date
Payment 
Amount Rate Type

Interest 
Rate

 SBITA 
Liability 
6/30/24 

TouchNet Information Systems Inc. 6/30/2025 Varies IBR 7.75% 319,873$     
Connection_Adobe 9/26/2025 Varies IBR 4.75% 220,591  
Pantheon 5/31/2026 Varies IBR 4.75% 17,445    
Blackbaud New 6/30/2026 Varies IBR 4.75% 163,619  
SHI - Microsoft 2023 6/30/2026 Varies IBR 7.25% 645,626  
Carahsoft - Elasticsearch 7/31/2026 Varies IBR 7.25% 116,755  
Instructure, Inc. 2023 7/31/2026 Varies IBR 7.25% 488,179  
TargetX 2023 11/21/2028 Varies IBR 7.25% 276,471  
PowerSchool Holdings LLC 12/14/2025 Varies IBR 7.25% 37,296    
BlackBeltHelp 6/30/2027 Varies IBR 7.25% 172,193  
PageUp People Limited 6/30/2027 Varies IBR 7.25% 361,931  
Sitero LLC 4/30/2027 Varies IBR 7.25% 52,312    

2,872,291$      

Description Maturity Date
Payment 
Amount Rate Type

Interest 
Rate

SBITA 
Liability 
6/30/23

TouchNet Information Systems Inc. 6/30/2025 Varies IBR 4.75% 615,966$   
Konica Minolta 9/30/2024 Varies IBR 4.75% 72,552    
Connection_Adobe 9/26/2025 Varies IBR 4.75% 431,179  
Pantheon 5/31/2026 Varies IBR 4.75% 34,102    
Instructure 6/30/2026 Varies IBR 7.25% 735,407  
SHI- Microsoft 6/30/2026 Varies IBR 7.25% 1,003,953     
SHI- Elasticsearch 6/30/2026 Varies IBR 7.25% 163,555  

3,056,714$      
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SBITA Liability University - continued 

Future SBITA Payments 

SBITA payments due subsequent to June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

Long-term Liabilities – Assistance Corporation   

Long-term liabilities for the Assistance Corporation at June 30, 2024 consisted of: 

Years Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 1,522,366 165,570 1,687,936
2026 1,008,595 96,598 1,105,193
2027 264,796 25,222 290,018
2028 76,534 5,549 82,083

2,872,291$      292,939$       3,165,230$       

Beginning Ending Current Non-Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Portion

Bonds and notes payable:
     Notes payable 1,012,869$     -$ 28,720$       984,149$       30,546$      953,603$        

Other long-term liabilities:
     Security deposits 30,377 16,268 15,101 31,544 - 31,544
     Lease liability 10,945,744 - 187,543 10,758,201 219,353 10,538,848
Total 11,988,990$   16,268$       231,364$     11,773,894$  249,899$    11,523,995$   
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Notes Payable Assistance Corporation - continued 

Long-term liabilities for the Assistance Corporation at June 30, 2023 consisted of: 

Notes Payable Assistance Corporation 
The Assistance Corporation maintains a loan with a bank which was refinanced during the 
year ended June 30, 2021. The loan is a five-year adjustable-rate mortgage due September 
2037 with a 25-year amortization. Payments in the amount of $5,739, including principal 
and interest at 3.95% are due monthly. Interest will be adjusted to the Federal Home Loan 
Bank of Boston 5-year Classic Advance Rate plus 2.25% in September 2025 and each five 
year period thereafter. Minimum interest on this loan is 3.95%. A final balloon payment 
representing the outstanding balance is due in September 2037. The loan is secured by a 
mortgage on real estate owned by the Assistance Corporation. 

Beginning Ending Current Non-Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Portion

Bonds and notes payable:
   Notes payable 1,040,569$     -$    27,700$       1,012,869$    29,439$      983,430$        

Other long-term liabilities:
   Security deposits 31,917 4,040 5,580 30,377 - 30,377

     Lease liability 11,092,134 11,111   157,501 10,945,744 187,542   10,758,202
Total 12,164,620$   15,151$       190,781$     11,988,990$  216,981$    11,772,009$   
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued  

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 11 - Long-Term Liabilities – Continued 
 

Notes Payable Assistance Corporation - continued 
 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity for the note payable are as follows: 
 

                  
Lease Liability Assistance Corporation 
The Assistance Corporation is a lessee of two long term leases for office space for Salem 
State University as disclosed above. 
 
Lease interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $624,192 and 
$633,837, respectively. The right of use asset was amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. There were no additional payments made as part of these agreements. 
 
For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the total right of use assets were $11,332,359. 
For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 the total accumulated amortization related to 
the right of use assets was $2,137,846 and $1,601,378, respectively.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Years Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 30,546$       38,325$       68,871$          

2026 31,775 37,096 68,871

2027 33,053 35,818 68,871

2028 34,382 34,489 68,871

2029 35,765 33,106 68,871

2030-2034 201,598 142,757 344,355

2035-2038 617,030 69,614 686,644

Total 984,149$     391,205$     1,375,354$    
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 11 - Long-Term Liabilities – Continued 

Lease Liability Assistance Corporation - continued 

The annual debt service requirements to maturity for the leases payable for the Assistance 
Corporation are as follows: 

Note 12 - Pensions 

Defined Benefit Plan Description 
Certain employees of the University participate in a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit pension plan – the Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System – 
administered by the Massachusetts State Board of Retirement (the “Board”), which is a 
public employee retirement system (“PERS”). Under a cost-sharing plan, pension 
obligations for employees of all employers are pooled and plan assets are available to pay 
the benefits through the plan, regardless of the status of the employers’ payment of its 
pension obligations to the plan. The plan provides retirement and disability benefits and 
death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. 

The Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System does not issue stand-alone 
financial statements. Additional information regarding the plan is contained in the 
Commonwealth’s financial statements, which is available on-line from the Office of State 
Comptroller’s website.  

Years Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 219,353$         612,927$         832,280$         
2026 298,178 598,269 896,447
2027 327,272 580,377 907,649
2028 358,741 560,740 919,481
2029 392,372 520,320 912,692

2030-2034 2,551,917 2,298,933 4,850,850
2035-2039 4,097,382 1,366,132 5,463,514
2040-2043 2,512,986 223,530 2,736,516

10,758,201$    6,761,228$      17,519,429$    
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 -    Pensions – Continued 

Benefit Provisions 
SERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to members and their 
beneficiaries. Massachusetts General Laws (“MGL”) establishes uniform benefit and 
contribution requirements for all contributory PERS. These requirements provide for 
superannuation retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a member’s 
highest three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. For employees hired after 
April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated based on the last five years or any five 
consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of compensation. Benefit payments are 
based upon a member’s age, length of creditable service, and group creditable service, and 
group classification. The authority for amending these provisions rests with the 
Massachusetts State Legislature (the “Legislature”). 

Members become vested after ten years of creditable service. A superannuation retirement 
allowance may be received upon the completion of twenty years of service or upon 
reaching the age of 55 with ten years of service. Normal retirement for most employees 
occurs at age 65; for certain hazardous duty and public safety positions, normal retirement 
is at age 55. Most employees who joined the system after April 1, 2012 are not eligible for 
retirement until they have reached age 60. 

Contributions  
The SERS’ funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The 
Legislature has the authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the SERS 
retirement allowance is funded by employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular 
compensation. Costs of administering the plan are funded out of plan assets.  

Member contributions for SERS vary depending on the most recent date of membership: 

Hire Date Percent of Compensation
Prior to 1975 5% of regular compensation
1975 - 1983 7% of regular compensation
1984 - 6/30/1996 8% of regular compensation
7/1/1996 - present 9% of regular compensation 
1979 - present An additional 2% of regular compensation in 

excess of $30,000
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 - Pensions – Continued 

Contributions - continued 
The Commonwealth does not require the University to contribute funding from its local 
trust funds for employees paid by state appropriations. Pension funding for employees paid 
from state appropriations are made through a benefit charge assessed by the 
Commonwealth. Such pension contributions amounted to $10,612,983, $9,714,980, and 
$9,543,385, for the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 

For employees covered by SERS but not paid from state appropriations, the University is 
required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. The rate was 16.69%, 16.70%, and 
16.11% of annual covered payroll for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
respectively. The University contributed $1,971,828, $2,225,712, and $2,119,546, for the 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively, equal to 100% of the 
required contributions for each year.  

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the University reported a liability of $22,110,554, and 
$20,946,990 and $15,782,623, respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability related to its participation in SERS. The net pension liability as of June 30, 2024, 
the reporting date, was measured as of June 30, 2023, the measurement date, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of January 1, 2023 rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The net pension liability 
as of June 30, 2023, the reporting date, was measured as of June 30, 2022, the measurement 
date, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2022 rolled forward to June 30, 2022. 

The University’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on its share of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ collective pension amounts allocated on the basis of 
actual fringe benefit charges assessed to the University for the fiscal years 2024 and 2023. 
The Commonwealth’s proportionate share was based on actual employer contributions to 
the SERS for fiscal years 2023 and 2022 relative to total contributions of all participating 
employers for the fiscal year. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the University’s proportion was 
0.151% and 0.151%, respectively. 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 the University recognized pension income of $4,755,251. 
For the year ended June 30, 2023 the University recognized pension income of $3,670,003. 
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 - Pensions – Continued 

The University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources at June 30:  

The University’s contributions of $1,971,828 and $2,225,712 made during the fiscal years 
ending 2023 and 2022, respectively, subsequent to the measurement date will be 
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in each of the succeeding years.  

2023 2022
Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to Pension

Difference between expected and actual experience 785,432$      521,065$      

595,061        - 

Change in plan actuarial assumptions, net 371,605        576,705        

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 182               1,433            

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 172,872        - 

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,971,828     2,225,712     

    Total deferred outflows related to pension 3,896,980$   3,324,915$   

2023 2022
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pension

Difference between expected and actual experience 546,350$      817,568$      

Net differences between projected and actual 
earnings on pension plan investments - 111,670 

Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 168,914        56,661

Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 6,544,191     11,640,305   

    Total deferred inflows related to pension 7,259,455$   12,626,204$ 

Net difference between projected and actual 
Investment earnings
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 - Pensions – Continued 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized as increases (decreases) in pension 
expense as follows: 

 

Actuarial Assumptions  
The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, 
applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

For measurement dates June 30, 2023 and 2022, mortality rates were based on: 

 Pre-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females.

 Post-retirement - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females

 Disability - reflects the post-retirement mortality described above, set forward 1
year.

Measurement date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022

Inflation 2.50% 2.50%

Salary increases 4.00% to 9.00% 4.00% to 9.00%

Investment rate of return 7.00% 7.00%

Interest rate credited to annuity savings fund 3.50% 3.50%

2024 (255,760) $   

2025 2,663,732   

2026 (6,568,808)   

2027 (1,173467)  

Total (5,334,303) $   

Years Ending June 30:
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued  

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 - Pensions – Continued 
 
The 2024 pension liability for the June 30, 2023 measurement date was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of January 2023 and rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The 2023 
pension liability for the June 30, 2022 measurement date was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of January 2022 and rolled forward to June 30, 2022.  
 
Investment assets of SERS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust (“PRIT”) Fund. 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using 
a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return 
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of geometric rates of return for each major asset 
class included in the PRIT Fund’s target asset allocation as of June 30, are summarized in 
the following table:  
 

 
 
  

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

Long-term 
expected real 
rate of return

Target 
Allocation

Long-term 
expected real 
rate of return

Global Equity 37% 4.9% 38% 4.2%
Portfolio Completion Strategies 10% 3.8% 15% 5.0%
Core Fixed Income 15% 1.9% 15% 7.3%
Private Equity 16% 7.4% 10% 2.7%
Real Estate 10% 3.0% 10% 3.3%
Value Added Fixed Income 8% 5.1% 8% 3.7%
Timber/Natural Resources 4% 4.3% 4% 3.9%

100% 100%

2024 2023
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 - Pensions – Continued 

Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00% at June 30, 2024 
and 2023. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that 
plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and the 
Commonwealth’s contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between 
actuarially determined contributions rates and the member rates. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to 
make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net pension liability calculated using 
the discount rate as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher 
than the current rate at June 30:  

2024
Current

1.00% Decrease Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
6.00% 7.00% 8.00%
30,387,975$    22,110,554$    15,105,681$   

2023
Current

1.00% Decrease Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
6.00% 7.00% 8.00%
28,890,668$    20,946,990$    14,225,484$   
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 13 - Other Post-Employment Benefits  

Plan Description 
As an agency of the Commonwealth, certain employees of the University participate in the 
Commonwealth's single employer defined benefit-OPEB plan – the State Retirees' Benefit 
Trust ("SRBT"). Benefits are managed by the Group Insurance Commission ("GIC") and 
investments are managed by the Pension Reserves Investment Management ("PRIM") 
Board. The GIC has representation on the Board of Trustees of the State Retirees' Benefits 
Trust ("Trustees").   

The SRBT is set up solely to pay for OPEB benefits and the cost to administer those 
benefits. It can only be revoked when all such health care and other non-pension benefits, 
current and future, have been paid or deceased. The GIC administers benefit payments, 
while the Trustees are responsible for investment decisions.   

Management of the SRBT is vested with the board of trustees, which consists of seven 
members (or their designee) and includes the Secretary of Administration and Finance, the 
Executive Director of the GIC, the Executive Director of PERAC, the State Treasurer, the 
Comptroller, one person appointed by the Governor and one person appointed by the State 
Treasurer. These members elect one person to serve as chair of the board. 

The SRBT does not issue a stand-alone audited financial statement but is reflected as a 
fiduciary fund in the Commonwealth's audited financial statements. 

Benefits Provided 
Under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the Commonwealth is required to 
provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees of the 
Commonwealth, housing authorities, redevelopment authorities and certain other 
governmental agencies. Substantially all of the Commonwealth's employees may become 
eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the 
Commonwealth. Eligible retirees are required to contribute a specified percentage of the 
health care / benefit costs, which are comparable to contributions required from employees. 
Dental and vision coverage may be purchased by these groups with no subsidy from the 
Commonwealth. 
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Note 13 - Other Post-Employment Benefits – Continued 

Contributions 
Employer and employee contribution rates are set by MGL. The Commonwealth 
recognizes its share of the costs on an actuarial basis. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and 
as of the valuation date (January 1, 2023 and 2022), participants contributed 10% to 20%, 
respectively, of premium costs, depending on the date of hire and whether the participant's 
status is active, retired, or survivor. As part of the fiscal year 2010 General Appropriation 
Act, all active employees pay an additional 5% of premium costs. 

The Massachusetts General Laws governing employer contributions to SRBT determine 
whether entities are billed for OPEB costs. Consequently, SRBT developed an effective 
contribution methodology which allocates total actual contributions amongst the 
employers in a consistent manner (based on an employer's share of total covered payroll). 
The University is required to contribute based on Massachusetts General Laws; the rate 
was 7.83% and 7.28% of annual covered payroll for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. The University contributed $925,007 and $969,945 for the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, equal to 100% of the required 
contribution for the year. 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the University reported a liability of $23,516,399 and 
$26,361,589, respectively, for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability related 
to its participation in SRBT. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net 
OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The University’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on its share 
of the Commonwealth's collective OPEB amounts allocated on the basis of an effective 
contribution methodology which allocates total actual contributions amongst the 
employers in a consistent manner based on the University's share of total covered payroll 
for the fiscal years 2023 and 2022. The University's proportionate share was based on the 
actual employer contributions to the SRBT for fiscal years 2023 and 2022 relative to total 
contributions of all participating employers for the fiscal year. At June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
the University’s proportion was 0.166% and 0.166%, respectively. 
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Note 13 - Other Post-Employment Benefits – Continued 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 the University recognized income related to OPEB of 
$13,444,640.  For the year ended June 30, 2023 the University recognized income related 
to OPEB of $10,380,877. The University reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources at June 30:   

2024 2023

Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to OPEB

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 925,007$      969,945$                                          
Changes in OPEB plan actuarial assumptions 1,033,088   1,941,618   

Differences between expected and actual experience 956,479   485,282  

Net differences between projected and actual earnings 
on OPEB plan investments 76,865  40,073    

Changes in the proportion from Commonwealth 2,154  12,112    

Changes in the proportion due to internal allocation 3,252,427   5,050,484   

  Total deferred outflows related to OPEB 6,246,020$   8,499,514$   

2024 2023

Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

Change in assumptions 6,065,725$   9,540,818$   

Differences between expected and actual experience 2,641,476   4,364,447                    
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings -   -  

Changes in proportion due to internal allocations. 25,730,108   33,479,828                      
Changes in OPEB from Commonwealth 225,027  130,187  

  Total deferred inflows related to OPEB 34,662,336$ 47,515,280$ 

Draf
t

RMA 110 of 166



SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

- 88 -

Notes to the Financial Statements - Continued 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
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Contributions 
The University's contributions of $925,007 and $969,945 made during the fiscal years 
2024 and 2023, respectively, subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
reduction of the net OPEB liability in each of the succeeding years. 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB will be recognized as increases (decreases) in OPEB expense as follows: 

Actuarial Assumptions 
The total OPEB liability for 2024 and 2023 using the following actuarial assumptions, 
applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Years Ending
June 30,

2025 (7,458,871)$     
2026 (7,331,303)       
2027 (7,182,299)       
2028 (5,860,436)       
2029 (1,508,414)       

(29,341,323)$   

Measurement Date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022

Inflation 2.50% 2.50%

Salary increases

Investment rate of return

Health care cost trend rates

Rates vary by years of service and group 
classification, consistent with SERS

7.00%, net of OPEB plan investment 
expense, including inflation

Developed based on the most recent 
published GAO-Getzen trend rate model, 

version 2022_f4. Medicare and non-
Medicare benefits range from 5.00% to 

7.60%

Developed based on the most recent published 
GAO-Getzen trend rate model, version 

2023_1f. Medicare and non-Medicare benefits 
range from 5.79% to 7.50%

Rates vary by years of service and group 
classification, consistent with SERS

7.00%, net of OPEB plan investment expense, 
including inflation
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Note 13 - Other Post-Employment Benefits – Continued 

The mortality rate was in accordance with RP 2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table projected 
with scale MP-2020 from the central year, with females set forward one year. 

The participation rates are actuarially assumed as below: 

 100% of all retirees who currently have health care coverage will continue with
the same coverage, except that retirees under age 65 with POS/PPO coverage
switch to Indemnity at age 65 and those over 65 with POS/PPO coverage switch
to HMO.

 All current retirees, other than those indicated on the census data as not being
eligible by Medicare, have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65, as do
their spouses.  All future retirees are assumed to have Medicare coverage upon
attainment of age 65.

 85% of current and future contingent eligible participants will elect health care
benefits at age 55, or current age if later.

 Actives, upon retirement, take coverage, and are assumed to have the following
coverage:

The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2023 and 2022 valuations were based on 
the results of an actuarial experience study for the periods ranging July 1, 2023 and 2022 
through December 31, 2022 and 2021, depending upon the criteria being evaluated. 

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are 
developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term 
expected rate of return by weighing the expected future rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage. 

The SRBT is required to invest in the PRIT Fund.  Consequently, information about 
SRBT's target asset allocation and long-term expected real rate of return as of June 30, 
2024 and 2023, are the same as discussed in the pension footnote. 

Under 65 Age 65+ Under 65 Age 65+

Indemnity 27% 96.0% 28% 96.0%
POS/PPO 63% 0.0% 60% 0.0%
HMO 10% 4.0% 12% 4.0%
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Investment assets of SERS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust (“PRIT”) Fund. 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using 
a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return 
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of geometric rates of return for each major asset 
class included in the PRIT Fund’s target asset allocation as of June 30, are summarized in 
the following table:  

Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for 2023 and 2022 was 4.34% 
and 4.30%, respectively. These rates were based on a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(3.65% and 3.54%) as of the measurement date and the expected rate of return. The OPEB 
plan’s fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments for current plan members. The projected "depletion date" when projected 
benefits are not covered by projected assets is 2042 and 2042 for the fiscal years 2024 and 
2023, respectively. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan 
investments is 7.00% per annum was not applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total OPEB liability. 

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

Long-term 
expected real 
rate of return

Target 
Allocation

Long-term 
expected real 
rate of return

Global Equity 37% 4.9% 38% 4.2%
Portfolio Completion Strategies 10% 3.8% 15% 5.0%
Core Fixed Income 15% 1.9% 15% 7.3%
Private Equity 16% 7.4% 10% 2.7%
Real Estate 10% 3.0% 10% 3.3%
Value Added Fixed Income 8% 5.1% 8% 3.7%
Timber/Natural Resources 4% 4.3% 4% 3.9%

100% 100%

2024 2023
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Sensitivity of the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes in 
the discount rate 
The following presents the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as 
well as what the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point 
higher than the current discount rate: 

Sensitivity of the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes in 
the healthcare cost trend rates 
The following presents the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as 
well as what the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-
percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:  

June 30, 2024
Current

1.00% Decrease Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
3.30% 4.34% 5.30%

27,476,616$       23,516,399$       20,266,833$    

June 30, 2023
Current

1.00% Decrease Discount Rate 1.00% Increase
3.30% 4.30% 5.30%

30,753,639$       26,361,589$       22,753,841$    

2024
Current Healthcare

1.00% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1.00% Increase
(B) (A) (C)

Net OPEB liability 19,704,966$        23,516,399$            28,337,652$          

2023
Current Healthcare

1.00% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1.00% Increase
(B) (A) (C)

Net OPEB liability 22,098,557$        26,361,589$            31,758,075$          

(A) - Current healthcare cost trend rates, as disclosed in the actuarial assumptions

(B) - 1- percentage decrease in current healthcare cost trend rate,
as disclosed in the actuarial assumptions

(C) - 1- percentage increase in current healthcare cost trend rate,
as disclosed in the actuarial assumptions
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 - Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Public- Private Partnerships 
The University has entered into agreements with a nongovernmental operator for 
management of the food services operations, vending machines, related dining facilities, 
and bookstore of the University (the "agreements"). Pursuant to the terms of these 
agreements, financial commitments totaling approximately $623,000 were made at the 
beginning of each agreement and are being amortized over the agreement term expiring in 
2025 and 2031. The financial commitments are for facilities’ renovations to the University, 
including areas of the dining facilities, vending machines, and bookstore. This financial 
commitment is categorized as a public-private partnership under GASB 94, Public-Public 
and Public-Private Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements. The University 
has accounted for these monies as deferred inflows of resources. The balance of deferred 
inflows of resources at June 30, 2024 and 2023 is approximately $265,000, and $336,000, 
respectively. 

Note 15 - Restricted Net Position 

The University is the recipient of funds that are subject to various external constraints upon 
their use, either as to purpose or time. These funds are comprised of the following at June 30: 

The Foundation’s restricted – nonexpendable and expendable net position consists of 
investments to be utilized for various scholarships and program support. 

2024 2023
Restricted - nonexpendable:
     Scholarship and fellowship 110,000$      110,000$      

Restricted - expendable:
     Scholarship, fellowship 
     loans, gifts and research 
     grants and contracts 13,308,310$ 13,443,133$ 
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Commitments and Contingencies 

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, 
and destruction of assets, errors and omissions and natural disasters for which the 
Commonwealth is self-insured. 

Various lawsuits are pending or threatened against the University which arise in the 
ordinary course of operations. In the opinion of management, no litigation is now 
pending, or threatened which would materially affect the University’s financial position. 

The University receives significant financial assistance from federal and state agencies in 
the form of grants. Expenditures of funds under these programs require compliance with 
the grant agreements and are subject to audit. Any disallowed expenditure resulting from 
such audits becomes a liability of the University. In the opinion of management, such 
adjustments, if any, are not expected to materially affect the financial condition of the 
University. 

The University participates in the Massachusetts College Savings Prepaid Tuition 
Program (the “Program”). This Program allows individuals to pay in advance for the 
future tuition at the cost of tuition at the time of election to participate, increased by 
changes in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%. The University is obligated to accept as 
payment of tuition the amount determined by this Program without regard to standard 
tuition rates in effect at the time of the individual’s enrollment at the University. The 
effect of the program cannot be determined as it is contingent on future tuition increases 
and the Program participants who attend the University. 

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) notified the University in August 
1998 that it is a potential responsible party with respect to environmental impacts resulting 
from contaminated soil upon the removal of underground oil tanks in 1991. The EPA 
has not closed out their investigation. During fiscal years 2020 and 2019, the University 
paid no remediation costs and received no communication from federal or state agencies. 
In the opinion of management, such adjustments, if any, are not expected to materially 
affect the financial condition of the University. 
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Note 17 - Operating Expenses 

The University’s operating expenses, on a natural classification basis, are comprised of the 
following at June 30: 

Note 18 - Fringe Benefit Program 

The University participates in the Commonwealth’s Fringe Benefit programs, including 
active employee and post-employment health insurance, unemployment, pension and 
workers’ compensation benefits. Health insurance costs for active employees and 
retirees are paid through a fringe benefit rate charged to the University by the 
Commonwealth.  

The overall fringe benefit charge increased from 39.50% in 2023 to 43.20% in 2024 which 
includes 1.85% and 2.11% in payroll taxes, respectively. The retirement portion of the fringe 
benefit charge decreased from 16.70% in 2023 to 16.69% in 2024. In addition to providing 
pension benefits, under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the 
Commonwealth is required to provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for 
retired employees of the Commonwealth, housing authorities, redevelopment authorities and 
certain other governmental agencies. Substantially all of the Commonwealth’s employees 
may become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the 
Commonwealth. Eligible retirees are required to contribute a specified percentage of the 
health care benefit costs which is comparable to contributions required from employees. The 
Commonwealth is reimbursed for the cost of benefits to retirees of the eligible authorities 
and non-state agencies. 

2024 2023

Compensation and benefits 111,351,500$ 100,558,968$  
Supplies and services 33,939,035 29,506,786
Utilities 3,948,139 3,539,827
Depreciation 9,368,709 9,424,769
Amortization 10,372,833 10,272,210
Scholarships 18,163,261 12,700,771
Total operating expenses 187,143,477$ 166,003,331$  
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 18 - Fringe Benefit Program - Continued 

The amount of funding by the University related to benefits other than pensions for the years 
ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $3,047,003, $2,619,854 and $2,528,349, 
respectively, which equaled the required contributions each year charged to it through the 
Commonwealth’s fringe benefit recovery program. 

Insurance 
The Group Insurance Commission (“GIC”) was established by the Legislature in 1955 to 
provide and administer health insurance and other benefits to the Commonwealth’s 
employees, retirees, their dependents and survivors. The GIC also covers housing and 
redevelopment authorities’ personnel, participating municipalities and retired municipal 
employees and teachers in certain governmental units. 

Health coverage options include an Indemnity plan, Preferred Provider-type 
Organizations (“PPO”), an Exclusive Provider Organization (“EPO”) and multiple 
HMO plans. The GIC also manages basic and optional life insurance coverage. As part of 
its UniCare State indemnity and active employee Tufts Health plans (we don’t have 
Tufts anymore), it manages mental health/substance abuse benefits and also manages 
pharmacy benefits for the indemnity plans. 

For active state employees only, the GIC offers a long-term disability (“LTD”) program, 
two pre-tax employee programs - Health Care Spending Account (“HCSA”) and 
Dependent Care Assistance Program (“DCAP”), and for managers, legislators, 
legislative staff and certain Executive Office staff, a dental/vision plan. The GIC also 
offers a discount vision and a dental plan for Commonwealth retirees. 

The GIC administers a plan included within the State Retiree Benefits Trust Fund, an 
irrevocable trust. Any assets accumulated in excess of liabilities to pay premiums or 
benefits, or administrative expenses are retained in that fund. The GIC's administrative 
costs are financed through Commonwealth appropriations and employee investment 
returns. The Legislature determines employees' and retirees' contribution ratios. The GIC 
does not issue separately audited financial statements. The financial position and results 
of operations of the plan are incorporated in the Commonwealth's financial statements, a 
copy of which may be obtained from the Office of the State Comptroller, Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts, One Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108. 
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Note 18 - Fringe Benefit Program - Continued 

The GIC is a quasi-independent state agency governed by a 17-member body (the 
"Commission") appointed by the Governor. The GIC is located administratively within 
the Executive Office of Administration and Finance and is responsible for providing 
health insurance and other benefits to the Commonwealth's employees and retirees and 
their survivors and dependents. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the 
GIC provided health insurance for its members through indemnity, PPO and HMO plans. 
The GIC also administered carve-outs for the pharmacy benefit and mental health and 
substance abuse benefits for certain of its health plans. In addition to health insurance, the 
GIC sponsors life insurance, long-term disability insurance (for active employees only), 
dental and vision coverage for employees not covered by collective bargaining, a retiree 
discount vision plan and retiree dental plan, and finally, a pre-tax health care spending 
account and dependent care assistance program (for active employees only). 

Note 19 - Massachusetts Management Accounting Reporting System (“MMARS”) 

Section 15C of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws requires Commonwealth 
Colleges and Universities to report activity of campus-based funds to the Comptroller 
of the Commonwealth on the Commonwealth’s Statewide Accounting System, MMARS, 
using the statutory basis of accounting. The statutory basis of accounting is a modified 
accrual basis of accounting and differs from the information included in these financial 
statements. The amounts reported on MMARS meet the guidelines of the Comptroller’s 
Guide for Higher Education Audited Financial Statements. 

The University’s state appropriations are composed of the following at June 30: 

2024 2023

General Appropriations 63,025,751$   56,688,737$   
Other Appropriations 180,168 182,231
Total Appropriations 63,205,919 56,870,968

Add:
Fringe benefits for benefited employees
on the state payroll 27,120,340 22,354,474
Less:
Day school tuition remitted to the state 
and included in tuition and fee revenue (761,214) (751,390)
Total unrestricted appropriations 89,565,045$   78,474,052$   
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June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 19 -  Massachusetts Management Accounting Reporting System (“MMARS”) - Continued 

A reconciliation between the University and MMARS fund 901 activity as of June 30 is as 
follows (unaudited): 

Note 20 - Pass-Through Student Federal Loans 

The University distributed approximately $27,038,000 and $32,369,000 for the years 
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively for student loans through the William D. 
Ford Federal Direct Lending Program. These distributions and related funding sources are 
not included in the accompanying financial statements. 

Note 21 - Massachusetts State College Building Authority (“MSCBA”) 

The MSCBA was created pursuant to Chapter 703 of the Act of 1963 of the 
Commonwealth as a public instrumentality for the general purpose of providing 
residence halls and other facilities for use by students of the state universities of the 
Commonwealth, as well as major construction projects on their campuses. The residence 
halls are leased from the MSCBA for various terms. 

The University is charged a semi-annual revenue assessment that is based on a certified 
occupancy report, the current lease schedule and the design capacity for each of the 
residence halls, as well as debt service on instruments issued for dormitory and other 
major construction projects for the University. This revenue assessment is used by 
MSCBA to pay principal and interest due on its long-term debt obligations and certain 
MSCBA operating costs. 

These obligations may include the costs of periodic renovations and improvements to 
the residence halls, as well as other major construction performed on campus, which 
has included athletic field construction and repair. 

2024 2023

Revenue per MMARS 132,048,144$ 126,775,124$ 
Revenue per University 132,048,144 126,775,124
Difference - - 
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Note 21 - Massachusetts State College Building Authority (“MSCBA”) - Continued 

The portions of the semi-annual Revenue Assessments paid to the MSCBA by the 
University for building leases mainly for residence halls, related maintenance, insurance, 
other costs, historical pooled obligations and other major renovations and improvements 
for the University for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were $9,967,886 and 
$12,262,061, respectively.  The debt portion of these payments for building leases are 
accounted for under GASB 87 and are included within these financial statements within 
capital assets as right to use assets, net of amortization and offset to a lease liability. 
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Year ended June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015
Measurement date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014
Valuation date January 1, 2023 January 1, 2022 January 1, 2021 January 1, 2019 January 1, 2019 January 1, 2018 January 1, 2017 January 1, 2016 January 1, 2015 January 1, 2014

Proportion of the collective net pension liability 0.151% 0.151% 0.151% 0.233% 0.278% 0.341% 0.347% 0.341% 0.389% 0.295%

Proportionate share of the collective net
     pension liability 22,110,554$    20,946,990$    15,782,623$    39,993,737$    40,623,739$    45,107,543$    44,564,278$    46,973,396$    44,297,126$    21,889,032$    

College's covered payroll 13,327,614$    13,156,710$    12,271,296$    17,889,520$    22,921,548$    26,467,350$    27,303,392$    25,885,577$    23,448,807$    21,870,164$    

College's proportionate share of the net 
     pension liability as a percentage of its
     covered payroll 165.90% 159.21% 128.61% 223.56% 177.23% 170.43% 163.22% 181.47% 188.91% 100.09%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
     total pension liability 70.71% 71.05% 77.54% 62.48% 66.28% 67.91% 67.21% 63.48% 67.87% 76.32%

See accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Unaudited)

Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement System

- 99 -
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Statutorily required contribution 1,971,828$    2,225,712$    2,119,546$    1,798,972$    2,518,943$    2,764,339$    3,117,853$    2,716,688$    2,446,187$    2,436,331$    

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required
     contribution (1,971,828)     (2,225,712)     (2,119,546)     (1,798,972)     (2,518,943)     (2,764,339)     (3,117,853)     (2,716,688)     (2,446,187)     (2,436,331)     

Contribution (excess)/deficit -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

College's covered payroll 11,814,428$  13,327,617$  13,156,710$  12,271,296$  17,889,187$  22,921,548$  26,467,350$  27,303,397$  25,885,577$  23,448,807$  

Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 16.69% 16.70% 16.11% 14.66% 14.08% 12.06% 11.78% 9.95% 9.45% 10.39%

Notes:

See accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.

For the Years Ended June 30,

Employers participating in the Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement System are required by MA General Laws, Section 32, to contribute an actuarially determined contribution rate each year.

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Contributions - Pension (Unaudited)

Massachusetts State Employees' Retirement System

- 100 -
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- 101 -

Note 1 - Change in Plan Actuarial and Assumptions 

Measurement date – June 30, 2023 
The mortality rates were changed as follows: 

 Pre-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2021, set forward 1 year for females

 Post-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2021, set forward 1 year for females

 For disabled retirees, mortality reflects the post-retirement mortality described above, set
forward 1 year.

Measurement date – June 30, 2021 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.15% to 7.00%.  In conjunction with the investment rate of 
return changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

The mortality rates were changed as follows: 
 Pre-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally

with Scale MP-2020, set forward 1 year for females
 Post-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected

generationally with Scale MP-2020, set forward 1 year for females
 For disabled retirees, mortality reflects the post-retirement mortality described above, set

forward 1 year.

Measurement Date – June 30, 2020 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.25% to 7.15%.  In conjunction with the investment rate of 
return changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

Measurement Date – June 30, 2019 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.35% to 7.25%.  In conjunction with the investment rate of 
return changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

Measurement date – June 30, 2018 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.50% to 7.35%.  In conjunction with the investment rate of 
return changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

The mortality rate assumptions were changed as follows: 
 Disabled members – the amount reflects the same assumptions as for superannuation retirees, but

with an age set forward of one year
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Note 1 - Change in Plan Actuarial and Assumptions - Continued 

Measurement date – June 30, 2017 
The mortality rates were changed as follows: 

 Pre-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Employees table projected generationally with Scale
BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) to RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees Table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 and set forward 1 year for females

 Post-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally
with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) to RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy
Annuitant Table projected generationally with Scale MP-2016 and set forward 1 year for females

 Disability – did not change

Measurement date – June 30, 2016 
The assumption for salary increases changed from a range of 3.5% to 9.0% depending on group and length 
of service to a range of 4.0% to 9.0% depending on group and length of service. 

Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-time election for eligible members of the Optional 
Retirement Plan (“ORP”) to transfer to the SERS and purchase service for the period while members of 
the ORP. As a result, the total pension liability of SERS increased by approximately 400 million as of 
June 30, 2016.  

Measurement date – June 30, 2015 
The discount rate to calculate the pension liability decreased from 8.0% to 7.5%. 

In May 2015, Chapter 19 of the Acts of 2015 created an Early Retirement Incentive (“ERI”) for certain 
members of SERS who upon election of the ERI retired effective June 30, 2015. As a result, the total 
pension liability of SERS increased by approximately $230 million as of June 30, 2015.  

The mortality rates were changed as follows: 
 Pre-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Employees table projected 20 years with Scale AA

(gender distinct) to RP-2000 Employees table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base
year of 2009 (gender distinct)

 Post-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected 15 years with
Scale AA (gender distinct) to RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally with
Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct)

 Disability – was changed from RP-2000 table projected 5 years with Scale AA (gender distinct)
set forward three years for males to RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally
with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 (gender distinct)
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Year ended June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017
Measurement date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016
Valuation date January 1, 2023 January 1, 2022 January 1, 2021 January 1, 2020 January 1, 2019 January 1, 2018 January 1, 2017 January 1, 2016

Proportion of the collective net OPEB liability 0.166% 0.197% 0.173% 0.249% 0.439% 0.531% 0.496% 0.441%

Proportionate share of the collective net
     OPEB liability 23,516,399$     26,361,589$     27,710,622$     51,462,578$     76,582,635$     98,703,864$     86,677,734$     83,576,460$     

College's covered payroll 13,327,617$     13,156,708$     12,271,298$     17,889,520$     22,921,548$     26,467,350$     27,303,392$     25,885,577$     

College's proportionate share of the net 
     OPEB liability as a percentage of its
     covered payroll 176.45% 200.37% 225.82% 287.67% 334.11% 372.93% 317.46% 322.87%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
     total OPEB liability 13.80% 13.00% 10.70% 6.40% 6.96% 6.01% 5.39% 5.39%

Notes:

See accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.

The GASB pronouncement requiring the presentation of the information on this schedule became effective for years beginning after June 15, 2017 and is intended to provide data for the most recent ten 
years.

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net OPEB Liability (Unaudited)

Massachusetts State Retirees' Benefit Trust

- 103 -
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Statutorily required contribution 925,007$       969,945$       1,006,598$    944,662$         1,304,875$    2,015,741$    2,360,585$    2,181,990$    

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required
     contribution (925,007)        (969,945)        (1,006,598)     (944,662)          (1,304,875)     (2,015,741)     (2,360,585)     (2,181,990)     

Contribution (excess)/deficit -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

College's covered payroll 11,814,428$  13,327,617$  13,156,708$  12,271,298$    17,889,520$  22,921,548$  26,467,350$  25,885,577$  

Contribution as a percentage of covered payroll 7.83% 7.28% 7.65% 7.70% 7.29% 8.79% 8.92% 8.43%

Notes:

See accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.

For the Year Ended June 30,

Employers participating in the Massachusetts State Retirees' Benefit Trust are required by MA General Laws, Section 32, to contribute an actuarially determined contribution rate each year.

The GASB pronouncement requiring the presentation of the information on this schedule became effective for years beginning after June 15, 2017 and is intended to provide data for the most recent ten 
years.

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Contributions - OPEB (Unaudited)

Massachusetts State Retirees' Benefit Trust
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- 105 -

Note 1 - Change in Plan Assumptions 

Fiscal year June 30, 2024 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated based on the changes in the underlying claims and benefit 
provisions. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 
2023_1f.  The healthcare trend rates were updated to reflect short-term expectations based on a 
review of the Commonwealth’s historical trend rates. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 4.34% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(3.65%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2023 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated based on the changes in the underlying claims and benefit 
provisions. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 
2022_f4.  The healthcare trend rates were updated to reflect short-term expectations based on a 
review of the Commonwealth’s historical trend rates. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 4.00% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(3.54%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 
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Note 1 -   Change in Plan Assumptions – Continued 

Fiscal year June 30, 2022 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated to reflect lower-than-expected FY22 rates, driven primarily 
by an increase in expected Pharmacy Benefits Manager rebates. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 2021_b. 
The healthcare trend rates were updated to reflect short-term expectations based on a review of 
the Commonwealth’s historical trend rates. 

Change in Investment Rate 
The investment rate of return decreased from 7.15% to 7.00%. 

Change in Mortality Rates 
The mortality projection scale was updated from MP-2016 to MP-2020. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 2.77% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(2.16%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2021 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated based on the changes in the underlying claims and benefit 
provisions. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 
20920_b, the impact of the discontinuation of the ACA Health Insurer Fee and Excise Tax. 

Change in Investment Rate 
The investment rate of return decreased from 7.25% to 7.15%. 

Change in Salary Scale 
The salary scale assumption was updated from a constant 4% assumption to rates that vary by 
years of service and group classification, consistent with SERS. 
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Note 1 -   Change in Plan Assumptions – Continued 

Fiscal year June 30, 2021 
Assumptions: 
Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was decreased to 2.28% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(2.21%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2020 

Assumptions: 
Change in Inflation   
The inflation rate decreased from 3.0% to 2.5%.   

Change in Salary Assumptions  
Salary decreased from 4.5% to 4.0%.   

Change in Investment Rate   
The investment rate of return decreased from 7.35% to 7.25%.  

Change in Trend on Future Costs  
The healthcare trend rate decreased from 8.0% to 7.5%, which affects the high-cost excise tax.  

Change in Discount Rate  
The discount rate was decreased to 3.63% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(3.51%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74.   Draf
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Note 1 -   Change in Plan Assumptions - Continued 

Fiscal year June 30, 2019 

Assumptions: 
Change in Trend on Future Costs 
The healthcare trend rate decreased from 8.5% to 8.0%, which impact the high cost excise tax. 

Change in Mortality Rates 
The following mortality assumption changes were made in the January 1, 2018 Actuarial 
Valuation: 

 Disabled members – would reflect the same assumptions as for superannuation retirees,
but with an age set forward of one year

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 3.95% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(3.87%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74.  

Fiscal year June 30, 2018 

Assumptions: 
Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 3.63% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate 
(3.58%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. The June 30, 2016 
discount rate was calculated to be 2.80%.  Draf
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2024 2023
Assets:

Cash and equivalents 2,303,479$        3,313,835$        
Accounts receivable, net 533,449             410,223             

    Total Assets 2,836,928$        3,724,058$        

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 410,907$           240,424$           
Accrued payroll and fringe benefits 112,707             117,567             
Accrued compensated absences 277,530             250,750             

    Total Liabilities 801,144             608,741             

Net Position 2,035,784          3,115,317          

    Total Liabilities and Net Position 2,836,928$        3,724,058$        

Assets

Liabilities and Net Position

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedules of Net Position
Dormitory Trust Fund Report (Unaudited)

June 30, 2024 and 2023
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2024 2023
Revenues:

Student fees 16,219,267$      15,625,246$      
   Less: scholarships and fellowships (2,889,222)   (2,487,392)  
Commissions 17,913     59,566    
Leases 328,986   451,091  
State grant 53,501     102,864  

Total Revenues 13,730,445  13,751,375    

Expenses:
Regular employee compensation 2,229,754    2,105,367   
Special employee compensation 664,126   563,317  
Fringe benefits 1,109,637    1,017,562   
Administrative 67,579     171,157  
Facility operational 94,932     124,528  
Energy and space rental 1,417,473    1,383,643   
Operational services 74,575     54,324    
Equipment maintenance 927,519   679,076  
Loans and special payments 9,321,183    10,454,683    
Information technology 3,200   2,525  

Total Expenses 15,909,978  16,556,182    

Excess of Expenses over Revenues Before State grants and Transfers (2,179,533)   (2,804,807)  
State grants 3,500,000   
Net Transfers 1,100,000    -   

Total Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (1,079,533)   695,193  

Net Position, Beginning of Year 3,115,317    2,420,124   

Net Position, End of Year 2,035,784$        3,115,317$     

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Dormitory Trust Fund Report (Unaudited)

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Trustees of 

Salem State University: 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of Salem State University (“the 
University”), and its discretely presented component units, as of and for the year ended  June 30, 2024, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated DATE. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University’s internal control over 
financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have 
not been identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do 
not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

DATE 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS AS REQUIRED 
BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE AND GOVERNMENT 

AUDITING STANDARDS AND RELATED 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Independent Auditor’s Reports as Required by the Uniform Guidance and 
Government Auditing Standards and Related Information 

June 30, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL 
PROGRAM; REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE; AND REPORT ON 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM 
GUIDANCE 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees of 
Salem State University: 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Salem State University’s (the “University”) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 

identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on 
each of the University’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2024. The University’s major federal 
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. 

 
In our opinion, the University complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 
30, 2024. 

 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“GAAS”); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code 
of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards (the “Uniform Guidance”). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of the University and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our 
audit does not provide a legal determination of the University’s compliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above. 

 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Salem State University’s 
federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the University’s 
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about the University’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a 
whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the University’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of the University’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control 
over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over 
compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. 
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a 
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance.  
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

We have audited the financial statements of the University, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024 and have 
issued our report thereon dated DATE, which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial statements. Our 
audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The 
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as 
required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from, and relates directly to, the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as 
a whole. 

DATE  
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees of 
Salem State University: 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of Salem State University (“the 
University”), and its discretely presented component units, as of and for the years ended  June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated DATE. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the University’s internal control over 
financial reporting ("internal control") as a basis for designing the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have 
not been identified. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial 
statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, 
and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s 
internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

DATE 
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Assistance Passed 
Listing Pass-Through Entity Federal Through to

Number Pass-Through Entity  Award Number Expenditures Subrecipients

STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE CLUSTER
U.S. Department of Education:

Direct Awards:
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant 84.007 N/A N/A 415,000$           -$  
Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 N/A N/A 493,717             - 
Federal Perkins Loan Program (beginning of year) 84.038 N/A N/A 495,814             - 
Federal Perkins Loan Program (current year expenditure) 84.038 N/A N/A - - 
Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 N/A N/A 9,810,888          - 
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 N/A N/A 27,037,998        - 
Teachers Education Assistance for College Grant 84.379 N/A N/A 23,577 - 
Nursing Student Loans (beginning of year) 93.364 N/A N/A 405,511             - 
Nursing Student Loans (current year expenditures) 93.364 N/A N/A 99,953 - 

Total Student Financial Assistance Cluster 38,782,458        - 

TRIO CLUSTER
U.S. Department of Education:

Direct Awards:
Student Support Services 84.042 N/A N/A 501,546             - 
Upward Bound 84.047 N/A N/A 369,270             - 

Total TRIO Cluster 870,816             - 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER
National Science Foundation:

Direct Awards:
STEM Education (DC Models DRK12) 47.076 N/A N/A 24,935 - 
STEM Education (NSF Racial Equity) 6,897 - 

Subtotal - Direct Awards 31,832 - 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Direct Awards:

Title X Family Planning Program 93.217 N/A N/A 23,803 - 
Phonological Research 93.173 N/A N/A 62,868 - 

Subtotal - Direct Awards 86,671 

Total Research and Development Cluster 118,503             - 

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2024

See accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
- 6 -
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Assistance Passed 
Listing Pass-Through Entity Federal Through to

Number Pass-Through Entity  Award Number Expenditures Subrecipients

NON-CLUSTER
U.S. Department of Education:

Direct Awards:
Undergraduate International Studies and Foreign Language Programs 84.016 N/A N/A 51,132 - 

Subtotal - Direct Awards 51,132 - 

Pass-through Awards:
Fund for the Improvement of Postsecondary Education 47.074 Framingham State University N/A 5,887 - 

Subtotal - U.S. Department of Education 57,019 - 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Direct Awards:

FEMA Public Assistance 97.036 N/A N/A 748,215             - 
Subtotal - Pass-through Awards 748,215             - 

U.S. Small Business Administration
Pass-through Awards:

SBDC - Core 59.037 University of Massachusetts N/A 493,891             - 
Subtotal - Pass-through Awards 493,891             - 

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Pass-through Awards

MIT Sea Grant 11.417 Massachusetts Institute of Technology N/A 36,619 
Subtotal - Pass-through Awards 36,619 

U.S. Department of State Bureau of Education and Cultural Affairs
Pass-through Awards:

Steven's Initiative HIVER 2 19.415 IIE: Institute of International Education, Inc. N/A 5,987 
IDEA Grant 19.009 World Learning N/A 3,370 - 

Subtotal - Pass-through Awards 9,357 

Environmental Protection Agency
Pass-through Awards:

National Estuary Program 66.456 Umass Boston N/A 5,796 - 
Subtotal - Pass-through Awards 5,796 

Total Non-Cluster 1,350,897          - 

Total Federal Funds 41,122,674$      -$  

(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards - Continued

Year Ended June 30, 2024

SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY

See accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards.
- 7 -

Draf
t

RMA 147 of 166



SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

- 8 -

Note 1 -  Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) 
includes the federal award activity of Salem State University (the “University”) under 
programs of the Federal Government for the year ended June 30, 2024. The information 
on this Schedule is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code 
of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”). 
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the 
University, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in 
net position or cash flows of the University. 

Note 2 -  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the 
Uniform Guidance. 

Note 3 -  Indirect Cost Rate 

The University has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate as 
allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 

Note 4 - Federal Student Loan Programs 

Perkins Loan Program 
The Federal Perkins Loan Program (“Perkins”) is administered directly by the 
University and balances and transactions relating to this program are included in the 
University’s basic financial statements. During the year ended June 30, 2024, no loans 
were advanced under the Perkins program and no administrative costs were incurred. 
As of June 30, 2024, loan balances receivable, net under Perkins was $152,110. 

There was no federal capital contribution or match by the University during the current 
year. 

Nursing Student Loans 
The Nursing Student Loan Program is administered by Salem State University. There 
were $99,953 of loans disbursed during fiscal year 2024. As of June 30, 2024, the loan 
balances receivable for this program was $434,959. 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

- 9 -

Note 4 - Federal Student Loan Programs - Continued 

Direct Student Loan Program 
The University disbursed $27,037,998 of loans under the Federal Direct Student Loans 
program, which include Stafford Subsidized and Unsubsidized Loans and Parent Plus 
Loans. It is not practical to determine the balances of the loans outstanding to students 
of the University under the program as of June 30, 2024. The University is only 
responsible for the performance of certain administrative duties and, accordingly, these 
loans are not included in the University’s financial statements. 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

- 10 -

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results: 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

 Material weaknesses identified?            yes     x      no 

 Significant deficiencies identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses?            yes     x      no 

Noncompliance material to the financial 
statements noted?            yes     x      no 

Federal Awards 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance 
for major programs: Unmodified 

Internal control over major programs: 

 Material weaknesses identified?           yes     x      no 

 Significant deficiencies identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses?            yes    x       no 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required  
to be reported in accordance with  
the Uniform Guidance?     x      yes            no 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

- 11 -

Identification of Major Programs 

Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

Assistance 
Listing 

 Number 
Student Financial Assistance Cluster 
     Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant Program 84.007 
     Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 
     Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 
     Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 
     Federal Direct Student Loans (Note 3) 
     Teachers Education Assistance for College Grant 

84.268 
93.364 

     Nursing Student Loans 93.364 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
type A and type B programs: $750,000 

Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee?     x      yes           no 

Section II – Financial Statement Findings: 

None. Draf
t
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

- 12 -

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs: 

Finding number:  2024-001 
Federal agency: U.S. Department of Education  
Programs:  Student Financial Assistance Cluster  
CFDA #: 84.063 and 84.268 
Award year: 2024 

Criteria 

According to 34 CFR 668.22(e): 

When a recipient of title IV grant or loan assistance withdraws from an institution during a 
payment period or period of enrollment in which the recipient began attendance, the institution 
must determine the amount of title IV grant or loan assistance that the student earned as of the 
student's withdrawal date equal to the percentage of the payment period or period of enrollment 
that the student completed as of the student's withdrawal date, if this date occurs on or before - 
(A) Completion of 60 percent of the payment period or period of enrollment for a program that is
measured in credit hours; or (B) Sixty percent of the clock hours scheduled to be completed for
the payment period or period of enrollment for a program that is measured in clock hours.

Condition 
Federal regulations state that when a recipient of Title IV funds withdraws from an institution 
during a payment period or period of enrollment in which the recipient began attendance, the 
institution should determine the proper amount of Title IV funds to be refunded as of the 
recipient’s withdrawal date. Once a recipient’s withdrawal date is determined, an institution 
should complete a Return of Title IV (“R2T4”) calculation. The R2T4 is used to calculate the 
percentage of the payment period or period of enrollment completed, establish the amount of 
Title IV funds earned by the recipient, and determine the amount required to be returned to the 
Department of Education. During our testing, we noted 2 students, out of a sample of 40, where 
the Return of Title IV calculation was calculated incorrectly. 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Cause 
The University has policies and procedures in place to perform this calculation for all students 
who withdraw. However, in the above instances when completing the R2T4 calculation, the 
University made calculation errors with one student having the incorrect number of earned days 
in the semester and the second student having the incorrect amount of disbursed aid used in their 
R2T4 calculation. 

Effect 
The University calculated the student’s percentage of earned aid incorrectly which resulted in an 
incorrect amount of Title IV funds returned to the Department of Education. 

Questioned Costs 
$10 

Perspective 
Our sample was not, and was not intended to be, statistically valid. Of the 40 students selected 
for testing, 2 students, or 5% of our sample, had returns of Title IV funds that were 
miscalculated. 

Identification as a Repeat Finding, if applicable 
There were two instances of this finding in Award year 2024. 

Recommendation  
The University should implement a formal review process of the Return of Title IV calculations 
to ensure an accurate calculation is made. 

View of Responsible Officials 
The University agrees with the finding. All questioned costs were returned by the University in 
October 2024.

- 13 -
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Management’s Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

Year Ended June 30, 2023 

- 14 -

Section IV – Management’s Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings: 

The University had a Single Audit performed on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards for the year ended June 30, 2023. There were no audit finding reported within the Single 
Audit report. 
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Management’s Corrective Action Plan 

Year Ended June 30, 2024 

- 15 -

Finding number:  2024-001 
Federal agency:  U.S. Department of Education 
Programs:   Student Financial Assistance Cluster 
CFDA #:  84.063 and 84.268 
Award year:   2024 

Corrective Action Plan: 

The R2T4 calculations were done in a timely manner.  These errors were due to human error and is 
considered isolated incidents. The Financial Aid office has taken great steps over the years and 
improved the processes for identifying and processing R2T4 calculations in a timely manner.

Timeline for Implementation of Corrective Action Plan: 
The corrective action plan was implemented as of October 2024. 

Contact Person 
Scott Jewell, Director of Financial Aid 
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REQUEST FOR TRUSTEE ACTION 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

October 15, 2024 

Risk Management and Audit Committee/Board of Trustees 

Karen P. House, vice president for finance and facilities 

Independent Accountant’s Report on Compliance Pursuant to the 
Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Attestation Guide, 
June 30, 2024 

Request action: Discussion/Acceptance 

The Independent Accountants’ Report on Compliance Pursuant to the Massachusetts Office 
of Student Financial Assistance Attestation Guide, June 30, 2024 is due for submission to 
the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance by December 31, 2024 and then 
subsequently forwarded to the Commonwealth. The university’s auditors, Withum, PC 
have presented the draft audit. 

MOTION 

The Risk Management and Audit Committee hereby recommends that the Board of 
Trustees approve the following motion. 

Recommended Motion 

The Board of Trustees of Salem State University hereby accepts the following draft audit: 

Independent Accountant’s Report on Compliance Pursuant to the Massachusetts 
Office of Student Financial Assistance Attestation Guide, June 30, 2024 

Further, the Board of Trustees delegates authority to accept the final audit to Vice 
President Karen House, with the proviso that significant changes or findings from the draft 
audit, if any, be discussed first with the chair of the Risk Management and Audit 
committee. Further, the trustees acknowledge that Vice President House and her team will 
submit the audit to the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance by its 
December 31, 2024 deadline.  

Committee Assigned: Risk Management and Audit 

Committee Action: 

Date of Action: 

RMA 156 of 166



Trustee Action:  

Trustee Approval Date:  

Effective Date:  

 
 
Signed:  _______________________________  

Title: Secretary of the Board of Trustees 

Date:  _______________________________  
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON 
COMPLIANCE PURSUANT TO THE MASSACHUSETTS 

OFFICE OF STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
ATTESTATION GUIDE  

JUNE 30, 2024Draf
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY, INC. 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Independent Accountant’s Report Pursuant to the  
Massachusetts Office of Student Financial  

Assistance Attestation Guide 

June 30, 2024 

CONTENTS 

Independent Accountant’s Report on Compliance with Specified 
  Requirements Applicable to the Massachusetts Office of Student 
  Financial Assistance Program Cluster       1-2 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 3 

Summary Schedule of Prior Findings 4 

Schedule of Population, Items Tested and Findings for Massachusetts  
   Office of Student Financial Assistance Program Cluster 5-7
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFIED 
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE MASSACHUSETTS OFFICE OF STUDENT 
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAM CLUSTER 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees of 
Salem State University: 
 
We have examined Salem State University’s’ (“the University”) compliance with the following requirements as 
specified in the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance (“MOSFA”) Student Financial Assistance 
Attestation Guide, Fifth Edition (the “Guide”) for the year ended June 30, 2024: 
 

 Institutional Eligibility 
 Student Eligibility 
 Reporting 
 Disbursements 
 Refunds 

 
Management is responsible for the University’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the University’s compliance based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the AICPA and the 
standards applicable to attestation engagements contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the University complied with the specified requirements 
referenced above in all material respects. An examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about 
whether the University complied with the specified requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures 
selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance whether due to 
fraud or error. We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 
 
We are required to be independent and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to the engagement.  
 
Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the University’s compliance with specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, the University complied, in all material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above 
during the year ended June 30, 2024. 
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2 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we are required to report all deficiencies that are considered to 
be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal control; fraud, and noncompliance with provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts or grant agreements that have a material effect on the University’s compliance with the 
specified requirements and any other instances that warrant the attention of those charged with governance. We 
are also required to obtain and report the views of responsible officials concerning the findings conclusions, and 
recommendations, as well as any planned corrective actions. We performed our examination to express an opinion 
on the University’s compliance with the specified requirements and not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the internal control over the specified requirements or on compliance and other matters; accordingly, we express no 
such opinions. The results of our tests disclosed no matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Restricted Use 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education and the 
Board of Trustees and management of the University and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
DATE 
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

There were no findings for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

The University has not been subjected to these procedures since fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 
in accordance with the standard timing for such examinations per the MOFSA Attestation Guide. 
The University did not trigger any of the specific criteria that would have required an annual 
examination and was not requested by the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance 
to have an examination performed during the years ended June 30, 2023 or June 30, 2022.
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SALEM STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

 
Summary Schedule of Prior Findings 

 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

 

- 4 - 
 

There were no prior findings.  
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Description Number Percent of Amount Percent of
of Category of students population of awards population

Categorical Tuition Waivers Population 311                100% 453,528         100%
Tested 1 0% 910                0%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Christian A Herter Memorial Scholarship Program Population 2 100% 32,392           100%
Tested 1 50% 16,196           50%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Completion Incentive Grant Fund Population 70 100% 221,530         100%
Tested 1 1% 2,848             1%
Findings - 0% - 0%

DCF Adopted Child Tuition Waiver and Fee Assistance Population 31 100% 337,376         100%
Tested 5 16% 51,016           15%
Findings - 0% - 0%

DCF Foster Child Tuition Waiver and Fee Assistance Population 49 100% 539,318         100%
Tested 1 2% 12,478           2%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Early Childhood Educator’s Scholarship Population 33 100% 126,000         100%
Tested 1 3% 7,200             6%
Findings - 0% - 0%

High Demand Scholarship Population 14 100% 64,625           100%
Tested 2 14% 11,000           17%
Findings - 0% - 0%

John and Abigail Adams Scholarship Population 298                100% 255,405         100%
Tested 6 2% 5,460             2%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Massachusetts Assistance for Student Success (MASSGrant) Population 1,281             100% 2,938,216      100%
Tested 17 1% 38,900           1%
Findings - 0% - 0%

MASSGrant Plus Population 1,038             100% 2,919,317      100%
Tested 11 1% 26,470           0.91%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Salem State University
Schedule of Population, Items Tested, and Findings for

Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Program Cluster

Year Ended June 30, 2024

See accompanying report.
- 5 -
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Description Number Percent of Amount Percent of
of Category of students population of awards population

MASSGrant Plus Expansion Population 1,183             100% 2,167,316      100%
Tested 15 1% 48,749           2.25%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Massachusetts Foster Child Grant Population 27 100% 143,499         100%
Tested 1 4% 6,000             4%
Findings - 0% 0%

Massachusetts GEAR UP Scholarship Population 9 100% 10,150           100%
Tested 1 11% 1,175             12%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Massachusetts High Demand Scholarship Population 367                100% 1,289,493      100%
Tested 1 0% 7,900             1%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Massachusetts Transfer Tuition Waiver Population 115                100% 81,167           100%
Tested 1 1% 910                1%
Findings - 0% 0%

Need Based Financial Assistance (Cash Grant) Population 900                100% 1,424,800      100%
Tested 15 2% 27,750           2%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Need Based Tuition Waiver Population 964                100% 771,187         100%
Tested 13 1% 11,260           1%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Paraprofessional Teacher Preparation Grant Population 2 100% 5,400             100%
Tested 1 50% 2,700             50%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Part-Time Grant Population 22 100% 8,575             100%
Tested 1 5% 225                3%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Paul E. Tsongas Scholarship Tuition Waiver Population 20 100% 230,642         100%
Tested 1 5% 11,878           5%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Salem State University
Schedule of Population, Items Tested, and Findings for

Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Program Cluster - Continued

Year Ended June 30, 2024

See accompanying report.
- 6 -
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Description Number Percent of Amount Percent of
of Category of students population of awards population

Tomorrow's Teachers Scholarship Population 6 100% 86,212           100%
Tested 1 17% 21,303           25%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Stanley Z. Koplik Certificate of Mastery Tuition Waiver Population 10 100% 8,645             100%
Tested 1 10% 910                11%
Findings - 0% - 0%

State Emergency Grant Population 65 100% 189,918         100%
Tested 3 5% 2,673             1%
Findings - 0% - 0%

State University Internship Incentive Program Population 10 100% 20,000           100%
Tested 1 10% 2,000             10%
Findings - 0% - 0%

Salem State University
Schedule of Population, Items Tested, and Findings for

Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Program Cluster - Continued

Year Ended June 30, 2024

See accompanying report.
- 7 -
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The Brotherhood
MEN OF COLOR SUCCESS 

INITIATIVE



Mission: 
The Brotherhood Program is a powerful force for change, seeking to 

cultivate an environment where male students of color can thrive 
academically, personally, and professionally. It provides a safe space for 
students to discuss issues affecting their lives, envision positive futures, 

and contribute meaningfully to their communities. The program is 
grounded in restorative justice and promotes reconciliation, inclusive 
practices, healing, and accountability, empowering students to foster 

equity and justice in their lives and communities. In addition, the program 
fosters initiatives that celebrate and promote Black and Brown excellence 

while reinforcing values of collective healing and restorative practices, 
thereby creating a strong sense of community among its participants, who 

are the driving force behind our success.



By Shawn and Steven

The Brotherhood: A 
Brief History on it's 

origins



Dr. Steven Oliver S h a wn  N e wto n

Department Chair of 
Secondary and Higher 
Education - Professor of 

Education

Associate Vice President and 
Dean of Students

Founding Fathers:



Goals for 2024-2025
Goal 1

We work to reengage our SSU 
students of color, primarily our 

SSU Brothers.

Goal 3

We hope to revive our 
Brother to Brother mentoring 

initiative.

Goal 2
We hope to activate our 
curriculum and workshop series 
that reconnects our brothers 
with essential topics that tackle 
academic, social, emotional, 
professional and cultural 
development.

Goal 4
We will strive to be more 
visible! We hope to blanket 
this campus with our work 
and presence.



 Stay connected. Participation is the 
key. Try your best to come to the 
events. We want to hear your voice. 
Thats all we ask for.

 Stay hungry for knowledge. The more 
we learn, the more we grow and 
create pathways to success.

 Make sure to reach out to your peers 
and mentors (Let's make sure we 
check-in on each other). Your 
participation and presence on this 
campus matters.

Expectations for participants



Community Service 
event. We are giving 
back to the Salem 
community. (TBA)

Celebration of Human 
rights in Salem. (Nov 
28th @ 9:45 am in the 

Vikin 123 room)

Brother to Brother check -
ins

This check -in will happen 
early December ( I will 
email you the details)

Showing our presence 
during the MLK 
convocation in 
January (TBA)

Upcoming events for the Brotherhood



“If you know whence you 
came, there is really no limit to 
where you can go.” —James 
Baldwin



Why The 
Brotherhood

 We see a lot of 
brothers walking alone 
on campus

 Men's mental health 
has become a crisis in 
recent years

 We want to create a 
safe space where 
men can talk about 
issues they face and 
find a community that 
shows up for them







Board of Trustees Staff Focus: 
Institutional Research & Assessment 

Prepared by:
Megan Williams, Assistant Provost
Institutional Research, Assessment & Sponsored Projects



Institutional Research & Assessment

• Newly restructured in April 2024

• Brings IR, assessment, and analytics 
under a unified area to analyze, 
understand, and transparently share 
institutional data to inform and support our 
students, their success and our decision-
making.



Institutional Research

• External Reporting: DHE, Federal

• Accreditations: NECHE, discipline specific

• Internal Requests
• Factbook – cohort trends, academic plan counts
• HSI Designation
• Strategic Plan



Assessment
• DHE & NECHE directive to assess student 

learning to ensure students develop and 
demonstrate competence in core skills. 

• Provide evidence of student learning and 
the institution’s commitment to their 
success. 



Assessment
New assessment coordinator – May 2024
• Institutional Surveys/data collection

• Focus on building a culture of assessment

• Supporting departments on development 
of assessment plans & learning outcomes, 
rubrics, curriculum mapping.



Analytics
• Data visualizations
• Data integrations across systems/areas
• Data Governance

• Focus HSI designation, Excelencia Seal 
and Servingness



Institutional Research & Assessment

• Goals for AY25:
– NECHE Interim Report
– Strategic Plan
– PAGE Assessment 
– eLumen implementation
– HSI Designation



Institutional Research & Assessment

• Goals for AY25:
– NECHE Interim Report

– Strategic Plan
• PAGE Assessment 
• Culture of Assessment
• Longitudinal trends
• Diversity, Equity and Inclusion/HSI Status



Institutional Research & Assessment

• Canvas eLumen Implementation
– Comprehensive assessment platform 

embedded within Canvas LMS
– Collaboration with CTI, ITS, PAGE and 

academic departments to formally map our 
curriculum & learning

– Will provide real-time assessment of student 
learning through data analytics



Institutional Research & Assessment

• Support HSI designation & roadmap
– Collaboration with Inclusive Excellence

– Build out HSI metrics (dashboard)

– Disaggregated data & working group to 
identify areas of success and opportunities for 
growth, professional development, and 
support.



Dashboard



Dashboard



Dashboard
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